URBANITIES

Journal of Urban Ethnography

Volume 8 • Supplement 1 • April 2018



Urban Ethnographers Debate Legitimacy

Edited by Italo Pardo and Giuliana B. Prato

Sponsored by the International Urban Symposium-IUS

ISSN 2239-5725

Editors:

Italo Pardo, University of Kent, U.K. Jerome Krase, Brooklyn College, City University of New York, U.S.A.

Book Reviews Editor:

Daina Cheyenne Harvey, *College of the Holy Cross, Worcester, MA, U.S.A.*

Film and Video Reviews Editor:

Alex Vailati, Federal University of Pernambuco, Brazil

Scientific Board:

Janaki Abraham, Delhi University, India Robyn Andrews, Massey University, New Zealand Gary Armstrong, Brunel University, U.K. Michael Ian Borer, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, U.S.A. Subhadra Channa, University of Delhi, India Vytis Ciubrinskas Vytautas Magnus University, Kaunas, Lithuania and Southern Illinois University, U.S.A.Judith DeSena, St. John's University, New York, U.S.A. Paola De Vivo, University of Naples Federico II, Italv Bella Dicks, Cardiff University, U.K. Margarida Fernandes, Universidade Nova de Lisboa, Portugal Michael Fischer, University of Kent, U.K. Christian Giordano, University of Fribourg, Switzerland John Gledhill, University of Manchester, U.K. Florence Graezer Bideau, Swiss Federal Institute for Technology, Lausanne, Switzerland Lucy Koechlin, University of Basel, Switzerland László Kürti, University of Miskolc, Hungary Marcello Mollica, University of Pisa, Italy Fernando Monge, Universidad Nacional de Educación a Distancia -UNED, Spain Jonathan Parry, London School of Economics and Political Science, U.K. Henk Pauw, Nelson Mandela Metropolitan University, Port Elizabeth, South Africa Giuliana B. Prato, University of Kent, U.K. Michel Rautenberg, University of St Etienne, France James Rosbrook-Thompson, Anglia Ruskin University, U.K. Timothy Shortell, Brooklyn College, City University of New York, U.S.A. Manos Spyridakis, University of the Peloponnese, Greece Davide Torsello, Central European University, Budapest, Hungary Zdeněk Uherek, Czech Academy of Sciences and Charles University, Prague, Czech Republic Corine Vedrine, Ecole Nationale Supérieure d'Architecture de Lyon, France Alex Weingrod, Ben Gurion University, Israel

Copyright © 2018 Urbanities

Urbanities grants free and unrestricted access to the journal's content for scientific, educational, noncommercial and non-promotional purposes. All peer-reviewed articles and other authored contributions are protected by copyright. Users may crawl articles for indexing and may access, download, search or link to the full text of a contribution provided that: (i) the authors' rights, including the rights to 'paternity' (also known as 'attribution') and 'integrity', are not compromised and are properly acknowledged; (ii) if an article/contribution content is copied, downloaded or otherwise reused for non-commercial research and education purposes, a link to the appropriate bibliographic citation (authors, article title, journal, volume, issue, page numbers, and the link to the definitive published version on Urbanities' platform/URL) should be provided; (iii) if an article/contribution content is posted to other repositories, a link to the definitive published version of the article on Urbanities' platform/URL is required. Enquiries concerning use or reproduction outside those terms should be sent to the editors at: urbanitiesthejournal@gmail.com

Disclaimer: The Publisher, *Urbanities* and their Associates cannot be held responsible for errors or omissions that may be made in this publication, or for any consequences arising from the use of information published in this Journal. Any views and opinions expressed in *Urbanities* are those of the contributors only. They are not necessarily endorsed or reflect the views of the Publisher or of the journal's Editorial and Scientific Boards, or of the Journal's Associates. The publication of advertisements does not necessarily constitute any endorsement by the Publisher, by *Urbanities*, or by the Journal's Associates of the products advertised.

Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography is published by "ildenaro.it" in association with the International Urban Symposium (IUS) and the IUAES Commission on Urban Anthropology (CUA).

For more information visit the Journal's website: <u>http://www.anthrojournal-urbanities.com</u>

Supplement 1. Sponsored by The International Urban Symposium – IUS. Est. 2015 Registration No: 1T-16945. Tax Code 95221370638. Registered Office: via Riviera di Chiaia 276, 80121 Naples, Italy. Further information available at: <u>www.internationalurbansymposium.com</u>. Contact us at: theboard.ius[at]gmail.com. All rights reserved. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography* is published biannually.



Front cover copyrights:

Bronze Sun © 1997 Lello Esposito Cityscape © 2011 Giuliana B. Prato

60

Contents

Special Issue, Ethnographers Debate Legitimacy, Edited by Italo Pardo and Giuliana B. Prato		
Introduction: The Ethnography of Legitimacy and its Theoretical Ramifications Italo Pardo and Giuliana B. Prato	1	
Dynamics of Legitimacy: Formal and Informal Contexts Giuliana B. Prato	9	
'Legal', Obnoxious and Unfair: Eroded Legitimacy of Governance in Naples Italo Pardo	16	
Legitimacy at Stake: A Short Comment Manos Spyridakis	23	
Legitimacy Crisis: Commonalities and Differences Z. Nurdan Atalay	27	
Exploring the Contours of Legitimacy in Neighbourhoods in North Kerala, India Janaki Abraham	32	
Issues of Legitimacy among Social Housing Residents in Soacha, Colombia Adriana Hurtado-Tarazona	38	
Undermining Governmental Legitimacy: Failed Expectations of Community Accountability Jerome Krase and Kathryn Krase	42	
Legitimacy and Symbolic Politics in a Neoliberal City Nathalie Boucher	49	
Claims and Practices of Legitimacy in Urban East Africa	55	

Lucy Koechlin Reflections on Anglo-Indian Experiences of Citizenship and Legitimacy Robyn Andrews

Fearing the Intrusion: Illegal but Legitimate Ethno-religious Dynamics in Lebanon 65 Marcello Mollica 70 Morality and Legitimacy in the Sewŏl Protest in South Korea

Liora Sarfati Political Participation and Legitimization of Power. The State and the Family: A Romani Case 74 Zdeněk Uherek 79

Notes on Contributors

Introduction: The Ethnography of Legitimacy and its Theoretical Ramifications

Italo Pardo	and	Giuliana B. Prato
(University of Kent, U.K.)		(University of Kent, U.K.)
<u>i.pardo@kent.ac.uk</u>		g.b.prato@kent.ac.uk

In this Special Issue, published as Supplement to Volume 8 of *Urbanities* under the auspices of the International Urban Symposium-IUS, a strong international field of 14 mid-career and senior anthropologists and qualitative sociologists from different parts of the globe who are engaged in empirical research debate the thorny issue of legitimacy drawing on their diverse ethnographic knowledge and wide range of perspectives. They participated in a full-time 6-day workshop in Sicily, Italy, on *Erosions of Legitimacy and Urban Futures: Ethnographic Research Matters*.¹ On the evening of Sunday 10th September, the invited participants met for an ice-breaking reception followed by dinner.² Work started at 9.30 on the 11th and continued for full 5 days, ending at 19.30 of Friday 15th September. The meeting closed that night with a farewell dinner.

The reflections in this Special Issue benefit from the intense debate that animated that meeting to reflect on processes of legitimacy and legitimation in urban settings and engage with the attendant theoretical insights. The principal aim is to take stock of the current state of the art on this issue and point to potentially significant developments. Almost a century after the publication of Weber's work, current debate continues to focus on Weber's theory of different forms of authority and the attendant sources of legitimacy (1978 [1922]). Most notably, Beetham (2013 [1991]) has elaborated a reformulation of the Weberian analysis arguing that a social-scientific study of legitimacy should recognise the distinction between the normative and empirical aspects and provide an account not only of the formal rules and prescribed laws but, most important, a descriptive analysis of the social construction of legitimacy; that is, why people accept or reject a particular form of government and governance. In-depth ethnographic fieldwork has the power do precisely this.

This collective effort raises especially pressing questions that long-term field research needs to address in depth. The discussions identify a theoretical framework that contributes to clarify the empirical significance of the complex ramifications of legitimacy and the processes of legitimation in the political, economic and moral life of today's urban world. The complex, highly problematic and often rocky dynamics that mark these processes and their ramifications are central in anthropology, sociology, economics, political science, history and law. It is hoped that the summarized reflections offered here on topics ranging from banking to neighbourhoods, from poverty and unemployment to policy and governance, from

¹ This workshop was held in September 2017. We wish to express our gratitude to the Wenner-Gren Foundation for Anthropological Research for a generous grant (Gr. CONF-751) that allowed us to organize this international meeting and to the International Urban Symposium-IUS for the clockwork organization.

² Some participants had previously met and interacted intellectually, others had not.

conflicting identities and interests to political action and grassroots organizing will foster scholarly contributions to this topical debate, for publication in future issues of *Urbanities*.

What follows is an integral part of a broad project rooted in long-term anthropological work (Pardo ed. 2000 and 2004; Pardo and Prato eds 2010) on the empirical and theoretical complexities of categories and processes of legitimacy and legitimation of morality and action; of the morality, production and application of the law; of politics and governance. Its principal aim is to trace the significance of knowledge gained through ethnographic research and to apply new theory related to legitimacy and legitimation to our understanding of changing urban settings. A most important subsequent objective is for adult debate on this topic to reach out, more broadly, to non-academics — professionals and decision makers who have an interest in the research findings — and to the wider public through comments and interviews in the media. To put it briefly, in the near future, this Special Issue will be followed by a series of publications and activities. A volume on *Legitimacy: Ethnographic and Theoretical Insights* (edited by I. Pardo and G. B. Prato) is to be published in the Series Palgrave Studies in Urban Anthropology. International seminars, round-tables, conferences and seasonal Schools will aim to encourage debate and originate publications in the media.

Of course, philosophers have addressed legitimacy and legitimation since the beginning of time. The empirically-based discussion of these issues is, instead, comparatively new. As emphasized by the Sicily workshop, now perhaps more than ever much more ethnographic knowledge from across the world is needed. In the early 1990s, a small group of ethnographers endeavoured to develop an informed view, which has gradually grown into a sophisticated international debate.³ They have studied the processes and ramifications of conflicting moralities, the corresponding ideas of legitimacy and the attendant dynamics of legitimation at the micro level. They have done so moving well beyond a Weberian perspectivism (1978 [1922]) and addressing the attendant ambiguities (Pardo 2000a). They have examined in depth the socio-economic impact on urban life of policies, rules and regulations that are received in the broader society as unfair, slanted or punitive. Aware, with Weber (1978 [1922]), that the authority to rule depends on recognition of rulers' legitimacy across society (Pardo 2000b, 2018), they have asked: How much more governance failure before legitimacy is withdrawn and, consequently, democracy is jeopardised? The need to address this question is now more urgent than ever; particularly in democratic systems across the world, for there governance and the law are broadly seen to fail the democratic contract as they fail to meet the challenge posed by the implications of this phenomenon. Urban futures are at stake (Prato 2009, Prato and Pardo 2013, Hannerz 2015, Pardo et al. eds 2015, Krase and DeSena 2016). Combined with contextual pressures — of national and international origin — these failures undermine the very foundations of democratic society. They generate malignant changes that corrupt individual and associated life. As poverty increase and multiplies, 'natural' solidarity turns into egotism; the morality of reciprocity and help gives

³ See Pardo 1995, 2000a, 2004; contributions in Pardo ed. 2000 and 2004 and in Pardo and Prato eds 2010.

ground to the 'every man for himself' instinct; as predatory values spread, so do abuse and corruption; as rulers lose trust and legitimacy, their power loses authority and authoritative leadership turns into authoritarianism; as immigration grows out of any semblance of control, tolerance turns into toleration and toleration into intolerance; as the establishment loses legitimacy, democratic participation shrivels, to the delight of power lobbies and select élite groups. And so, dangerously, on.

It should go without saying that as a moral and ethical category legitimacy is not necessarily a hallmark of the official world, including bureaucracy, government and the law. Across society, actors often separate the legal from the legitimate. Not always, it has emerged, what is legal is received as legitimate and not always what is not legal is seen as illegitimate: much is often worked out at local social and cultural level, regardless of official views. Ethnographic research has repeatedly found that ordinary people's view of what is legitimate and what is not legitimate defy — explicitly or implicitly, overtly or covertly — policies and changes in the law that meet the interest of élite groups at the expense of the rest of society. It has shown that no legitimacy is attached, at grassroots level, to rulers' choices dictated by ideological bias, cronvism, clientelism and various forms of corruption that do not break the law. It has brought out significant ways in which ordinary people question — in practice and more or less explicitly — the criminalization of actions and behaviours that are seen as moral and legitimate at the grassroots and legislation that claims to uphold widely held views of legitimacy but is ambiguous or difficult to implement, is not implemented, or is implemented by double standards. At a greater level of complexity, the empirical analysis of legitimacy and legitimation has exposed the (often damaging) kind of strong perspectivism about morality and rational choice that undergirds dominant definitions of membership of society, nonmembership or 'undeserving membership'.⁴

In short, graphically stressing the importance of processes of legitimacy and legitimation, today governance and the law are generally seen to fail to meet constructively the challenge posed by the complexities and implications, ultimately the messiness of life on the ground. Raising critical issues, misplaced or instrumentally selective moralities in policy and in the production and enforcement of the law (Fuller 1969, Pardo 2000a and 2000b) play a significant role in such a failure. Today, rulers — including democratic rulers — are seen to be caught in a visibly delegitimizing path, as they prove unwilling or, at best, incapable of taking on board the concerns, needs and expectations expressed by increasingly disaffected ordinary people. Today, all too often policy is seen to be inspired by ideological bias, to serve the interests of a few at the expense of the many; whatever its (ever flimsier) 'democratic' disguises, it is seen for what it is: slanted, morally biased and conveniently ineffectual or tyrannical.

As Pardo has observed (1995, 2000), in order to address legitimacy beyond a strictly legalistic approach we must first distinguish between the philosophical concept of legitimacy — intended as the basis of authority, founded on ruling by consent rather than by coercive power — and a sociological analysis of its diverse sources; that is, of ideological views and

⁴ See contributions in Prato ed. 2009 and in Prato and Pardo eds 2010.

everyday-life apperceptions (in the sense of critical consciousness, and recognition and valuation) of legitimacy. Paraphrasing Norbert Elias (1982 [1939], it could be said that the legitimacy of the political (and social) order is in constant transformation. Similarly, and most importantly, apperceptions of legitimacy are not static, but are subject to constant change, too, due to changes in the values, norms and needs within a specific socioeconomic and cultural context at a specific historical juncture.

The conceptualization of legitimacy as an object of study raises key questions:

- How should we understand the moral concepts of legitimacy by which rulers motivate their choices and actions?
- What are the culturally specific practices by which people make the categories of the legitimate and illegitimate shift across the domains of the moral, the economic, the legal and the civic?
- What legitimacy or illegitimacy is attached to the law and to policy at the grassroots?
- What are the everyday practices in which individual and groups engage and through which they potentially transform the idea of legitimate behaviour, of legitimate law and of legitimate policy?
- Through what processes the legal and the illegal are legitimated or de-legitimated?

From an ethnographer's viewpoint, these questions are crosscut by a concern with how we should deal with ideas of legitimacy across the social spectrum. So far, the in-depth analysis of diverse ethnographies has brought to light behaviours that are firmly rooted in the morality and ramifications, in practical life, of a *strong continuous interaction* between the material and the non-material aspects of life (Pardo 1995 and 1996: iv). An important condition is to stay committed to eschewing confusion between legitimacy and legality and engaging analytically with important aspects of action that demonstrate the moral and cultural complexity of people's managing the messiness of real life. If our understanding of human beings in society is to share the responsibility of a complex view, we must take very seriously the interplay between personal morality and civic responsibility, and between value and action. In the first place, we have argued (Pardo and Prato 2010), this requires an informed awareness of the vanity of the monist approach to the complex ways in which people merge social morality and personal choice into practices that observably recognize more than the self and may contradict, de facto, the legitimacy of the law and policy (Pardo 1996: Chap. 2 and Chap. 7).

World-wide discontent with how the dominant élite manage power is generating grassroots opposition, which is powerfully contributing to the growing gap between the rulers and the ruled — critically, between ideas and recognitions of legitimacy at the grassroots level as opposed to among élite groups. In recent times, democratic society has experienced particularly disruptive effects of this gap. Conflicting moralities across the social, cultural, economic and political spectra are increasingly coming the fore across the world, corresponding to a progressive erosion of the law and of the legitimacy of governance.

In spite of scholarly warnings on the impact of these problems on good governance, the political élite express, at best, lukewarm acknowledgement, while doing little of any

consequence. On the other hand, citizens increasingly question the legitimacy of local, national and supra-national bureaucracy, administration, decision-making, policy and the law. These problems are particularly evident in the urban field, from secondary cities to metropolitan areas (Pardo and Prato eds 2012 and 2017, Krase and DeSena 2016). Every day there are reports of grassroots protests of assorted types that expose both the obnoxious ways (obnoxious, that is, to reason and citizenship rights) in which dominant élite manage power and the growing opposition in the wider society to their rhetoric and actual behaviours.⁵ The list of recent occurrences that point to the acute crisis of citizens' trust in their rulers is long, and growing. One case is given by the Italian rough treatment of the fundamental division of power and of the democratic process that, since 2010, has allowed a succession of unelected governments to rule the country. Another example lies in the acrimonious subtext of the 2017 US Presidential election and the grassroots motivations of the American voter that are reflected in many ways in those that animated the British public to vote to leave the EU, and large proportions of the electorate in France, Austria, Germany, The Netherlands, Hungary, Italy and so on to give strength to 'anti-establishment' parties that may well be controversial but cannot be simply dismissed as populist. The consequences are dire, though largely anticipated in the cited publications.

As a fitting corollary of the conflict between the élite and the rest, the question, 'What will happen to us?' is being cogently asked in our ethnographies, mirroring similar concerns around the world. Legalistic and formalist views definitely aside, the foregoing brings powerfully to a head the need to address the problematic of legitimacy on the ground, which, we suggest, of course involves taking stock of the ethnography of legitimacy and the attendant theoretical insights but also requires us to move urgently ahead through strong scholarship that addresses this controversial realm and the attendant problematic ramifications.⁶

If it is the duty of anthropologists and fellow social scientists to study humankind to improve humankind, it is also their responsibility to help answer this question with particular attention to the morality of what is right, of what is doable, fair and can be lived with, as opposed to what is legal. In 2016 we thought that it would be timely to take stock of the past debate and push on, moving the discussion beyond what has been to what will be. Given the current global scenario, we hoped that the application of the ideas offered by the cited literature on morality, action, law, politics and governance would help to stimulate engaged scholarship and robust exchange of ideas to bring out the epistemological significance of charting new theoretical directions on 'legitimacy' and 'legitimation' as loci of ethnographic knowledge gained through long-term field research. We worked out an intellectual programme, applied for funding and invited a group of colleagues at different stages in their

⁵ See, on this, Bekkers et al. 2007, Gupta 1995, Morris ed. 2000, Pardo and Prato eds 2010, Riberio Hoffman and van der Vleuten eds 2007, Sarduski 2008, Sharma and Gupta eds 2006.

⁶ See, for instance, Breitmeier 2008; Camargo Sierra and Hurtado Tarazona 2013; Coicau 2002; Fassin 2014; Pardo ed. 2000; Pardo 1995, 2000b, 2004; Prato 1993, 2000, 2006, 2010; Peters et al. 2009; Pardo and Prato eds 2010; Spyridakis 2010.

careers who share a strong commitment to ethnographic research in urban settings and to empirically-based analysis to join us in developing this debate. They provided different experiences and skill sets to the overall discussion that took place one year later throughout the workshop that we held in Sicily.

In organizing the meeting, we benefited from the intellectual and organizational knowhow, network and local knowledge of the International Urban Symposium-IUS. The contributors were asked to draw on their research in urban settings to prepare ethnographically-based papers that addressed the complex interactions among morality, ethics and legitimacy that emerge from the empirical study of the relationship among the legal, the not-strictly legal and the illegal. We invited analyses that took into account the aforementioned perspectivism in addressing actions — legal and not-strictly legal — that are regarded as legitimate at the grassroots and of policies and rulers' actions that do not break the law but are regarded as illegitimate in the broader society. We asked that particular attention should be paid to the impact — economic, social and political — of these actions, of the criminalization of behaviours that are regarded as legitimate at the grassroots and of the legalization of actions that are regarded as reprehensible and illegitimate at the grassroots. Throughout the meeting engaged debate based on comparative reflection benefited from regionally diversified ethnographic knowledge from East Africa, Canada, Europe, the Far East, India, Latin America, the Middle East and the USA, and amply demonstrated the epistemological significance of charting new theoretical directions on 'legitimacy and urban governance' as a locus of ethnographic research that matters to our urban futures.

The general atmosphere of informality and the participants' dogged engagement with the topic and the organizational set up contributed to making this workshop successful and highly promising for the development of reflection and debate on this critical theme. Over the week that we spent together, we became a truly engaged and close-knit group of human beings, which bodes well both intellectually and in terms of academic network: many promising ideas and a number of projects were seeded during the informal meetings in the evenings and during the excursions. It was a bonus that this meeting was welcomed by the local municipal authorities, who treated the group to a wine-tasting cum archaeological excursion and that we should enjoy perfect late summer weather in a beautiful Sicilian setting.

As the papers were circulated in June among the participants, they were not read during the workshop. There, participants brought out the major points in their papers, stimulating round-table discussion. Throughout, we debated how an ethnographically-informed knowledge about legitimacy should both avoid taking this category for granted and bring out its empirical complexity and socio-political significance. Thematic Discussion Groups focused on the 5 key questions that we have listed earlier. A final Round Robin, titled 'Where we are, where we want to go', offered all participants an opportunity to outline how they intended to use the workshop to revise the papers; specifically, they clarified how the workshop had contributed to their perspective and what revisions might appear in their articles. Ideas for future developments were also discussed. The early results of our collective efforts and the growing interest among the international community suggest that the future for this topic is very promising, that the attendant ethnographically-based analysis is likely to contribute to scholarship with the ongoing production of social theory. We reiterate our hope that the publication of the findings will stimulate further debate, new topical research and collaboration with non-academics who operate in society and are interested in our empirical knowledge, and in making use of it.

References

Beetham, D. 2013 [1991]. The Legitimation of Power. New York: Palgrave.

- Bekkers, V., Dijkstra, G., Edwards, A. and Fenger, M. eds. 2007. Governance and the Democratic Deficit: Assessing the Democratic Legitimacy of Governance Practices. Farnham: Ashgate.
- Breitmeier, H. 2008. The Legitimacy of International Regimes. Farnham: Ashgate.
- Camargo Sierra, A. P. and Hurtado Tarazona, A. 2013. Informal urbanization in Bogotá: agents and production philosophies of urban space. *Revista INVI*, 28 (78), <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4067/S0718-83582013000200003</u>.
- Coicau, J-M. 2002. Legitimacy and Politics: A Contribution to the Study of Political Rights and Political Responsibility. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Elias, N. 1982 [1939]. *The Civilising Process—Vol. 2 State Formation and Civilization*. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Fassin, D. ed. 2014. A Companion to Moral Anthropology. Oxford: Wiley Blackwell.
- Fuller, L. 1969. The Morality of Law. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Gupta, A. 1995. Blurred Boundaries: The Discourse of Corruption, the Culture of Politics and the Imagined State. *American Ethnologist*, 22 (2): 375-402.
- Hannerz, U. 2015. Writing Futures. An Anthropologist's View of Global Scenarios. *Current Anthropology*, 56 (6): 797-818.
- Krase J. and DeSena J 2016. *Race, Class, and Gentrification in Brooklyn.* New York: Lexington.
- Morris, R.J. ed. 2000. Urban Governance: Britain and Beyond since 1750. Farnham: Ashgate.
- Pardo, I. 1995. Morals of Legitimacy in Naples: streetwise about legality, semi-legality and crime. *European Journal of Sociology*, 36 (1): 44-71.
- Pardo, I. 2000a. Morals of legitimacy: Interplay between responsibility, morality and trust. In Pardo (ed.).
- Pardo, I. 2000b. When power lacks legitimacy: relations of politics and law to society. In I. Pardo (ed.).
- Pardo, I. ed. 2000. Morals of Legitimacy. Between Agency and System. Oxford: Berghahn.
- Pardo, I. ed. 2004. *Between Morality and the Law. Corruption, Anthropology and Comparative Society*. Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Pardo. I. 2018. Corrupt, Abusive, and Legal: Italian Breaches of the Democratic Contract. *Current Anthropology*, 59 (Supplement 18): 17-22.

- Pardo I. and Prato, G. B. 2010. Introduction: Disconnected Governance and the Crisis of Legitimacy. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Pardo I. and Prato, G. B. eds. 2010. *Citizenship and the Legitimacy of Governance: Anthropology in the Medterranean Region*. Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Pardo, I and Prato, G.B. eds. 2012. *Anthropology in the City: Methods, Methodology and Theory*. Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Pardo I., Prato G. B. and Kaltenbacher W. eds. 2015. Le positionnement de l'anthropologie urbaine. *Diogène* 251-252. Special Issue. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France
- Pardo, I. and Prato G. B. eds. 2017. *The Palgrave Handbook of Urban Ethnography*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Peters, A., Forster, T. and Koechlin, L. 2009. *Non-State Actors as Standard Setters*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Prato, G. B. 1993. Political decision-making: environmentalism, ethics and popular participation in Italy. In K. Milton (ed.), *Environmentalism: The View from Anthropology*. London: Routledge.
- Prato, G. B. 2000. The cherries of the mayor: Morality and responsibility in local Italian administration. In I. Pardo (ed.).
- Prato, G. B. 2006. Introduction: Citizenship as Geo-Political Project. In G.B. Prato (ed.), *Political Ideology, Citizenship, Identity: Anthropological Approaches*. Special issue of *Global Bioethics*, 19 (1): 3-11. Florence: Firenze University Press. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/11287462.2006.10800880
- Prato, G. B. 2009. Introduction—Beyond Multiculturalism: Anthropology at the Intersections between the Local, the National and the Global. In G. B. Prato (ed.).
- Prato, G. B. 2010. The 'Costs' of European Citizenship: Governance and Relations of Trust in Albania. In I. Pardo and G.B. Prato (eds).
- Prato, G. B. ed. 2009. *Beyond Multiculturalism: Views from Anthropology*. London: Routledge.
- Prato G. B. and Pardo I. 2013. 'Urban Anthropology'. Urbanities-Journal of Urban *Ethnography*, 3 (2): 82-110.
- Riberio Hoffman, A. and van der Vleuten, A. eds. 2007. *Closing or Widening the Gap? Legitimacy and Democracy in Regional Integration Organizations*. Farnham: Ashgate.
- Sarduski, W. 2008. Equality and Legitimacy. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Sharma, A. and Gupta, A. eds. 2006. *The Anthropology of the State: A Reader*. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Spyridakis, M. 2010. Between Structure and Action: Contested Legitimacies and Labour Processes in the Piraeus. In I. Pardo & G.B. Prato (eds).
- Weber, M. 1978 [1922]. *Economy and Society: An Outline of Interpretive Sociology*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.

Dynamics of Legitimacy: Formal and Informal Contexts

Giuliana B. Prato (University of Kent) g.b.prato@kent.ac.uk

Since the late-1980s I have carried out ethnographic research on processes of political change. My initial interest was stimulated by the increasing opposition against the centralizing role of political parties in Italy, which extended well beyond the political sphere to almost every aspect of social life. This form of corruption of the Italian political system became widely known as *partitocrazia* (party-ocracy). In some cases, the overwhelming power of the political parties led to individual resistance to the system from within. Above all, however, this system of party rule was opposed by protest groups that had initially organized outside the institutional political arena. These groups raised central issues on the relationship of political representation, also questioning the legitimacy of the politicians' decision-making. In response to widespread grassroots discontent and in the context of broader Europe-wide changes, some traditional parties engaged in self-restructuring and rebranding, changing their name and logo, and attempted new styles of local governance.

In Brindisi, where I carried out my fieldwork, the activity of protest groups against *partitocrazia* culminated in the opposition to the construction of a new power-station (Prato 1995). The events around the construction of the plant provided more than an ethnography of local political processes; they brought out key aspects of the relationship between local politics and central government, and of the effects of political ideologies on economic policies (Prato 2018).

Ethnographic research addressed three major questions: 1) How political parties have exercised and abused their power beyond their democratic mandate; 2) the ethics of responsibility demanded by different political and administrative roles and the attendant moralities, loyalties and potential conflicts; 3) the relevance and actual impact of 'new forms' of political action in influencing change in the system. These three questions emerged as crucially significant in a situation in which people's distrust of the traditional parties and their values was increasingly expressed in seeking alternative forms of representation.

What I observed in Brindisi in the late-1980s and early-1990s was much more than an expression of discontent of local significance. The new, initially informal, political organizations that emerged there were not locally isolated phenomena; most significantly, they advocated a new approach to politics and were harbingers of revolutionary changes to come both a local and national level (Prato 1995, 2017). The opposition embodied by the kind of political formations that I observed in Brindisi has triggered legislative changes on administrative decentralization; the significance of these new laws to local governance and to politics more generally has been the object of detailed analysis (Prato 2000).

Throughout the fieldwork my aim was to clarify how the moralities and attitudes to politics of people in public office are affected by the role played by political parties. Ethnographic analysis brought out a conflict between an 'impartial', bureaucratic sense of

responsibility and a 'committed', political one, which in turn might as well serve a partisan cause or be directed towards the common good. This Italian case has highlighted how in contemporary democracy the power of political parties may extend well beyond formal and, at times, legally recognised boundaries. In Italy, traditional parties have used this power through hidden practices of government — known as *sottogoverno* (sub-government). As a researcher, I was faced with a situation where the political system, the legitimacy and stability of which should have been safeguarded by law, was in fact self-legitimising, and then reproducing, itself on the basis of actions, choices and moralities that may have been licit to the actors involved, but were not regarded as legitimate by 'ordinary' citizens, nor were they always legal.

This Italian ethnography has pointed directly and problematically to the legitimacy of the political order and representation in contemporary democracy. In democracy, such legitimacy should be a given, for the authority of the elected representatives is supposed to stem 'from the people'; it should take the form of 'centripetal' power (Weber 1947), radiating from the periphery (the constituency of electors) to the centre (the elected leaders). However critically one wishes to engage with the work of Max Weber, it is indisputable that in addressing legitimacy in liberal democracies most social scientists have taken as a starting reference the Weberian tripartite classification of authority. In all three cases, their legitimacy comes across as the 'recognized right' to rule and to exercise power; that is, a power that should enjoy authority (Weber 1947). Much confusion has been generated by the difficulty in providing a precise English translation of the German word herrschaft, which has been variably rendered as 'power', 'rule', 'domination'. Noteworthy, Weber describes herrschaft as 'the chance of a specific (or, of all) command(s) being obeyed by a specified group of people' (1978: 122). Obedience can be voluntary or imposed by force. In both instances, the power to command is linked to the exercise of social control. However, the power 'to exercise' does not automatically 'enjoy legitimacy', for a power that comes from acts of coercion (whether by brute force or ideological imposition) is, as Pardo notes (2000: 7), a power without authority.

In analysing contemporary liberal democracies, most social scientists have focused on the legal-rational aspects of legitimacy, grossly overlooking the fact that Weber's classification addresses three 'pure' ideal-types and that elements of each type may coexist in any given context, often leading to competing claims of legitimate authority. Thus, Weber's argument that under bureaucratic principles 'formal' rationality supersedes 'substantive' rationality has been rigidly embraced, reducing legitimacy to a set of technical rules — to be applied according to impersonal principles — while ignoring the values and ethical norms that might influence both rulers' decision-making and people's acceptance of such decisions.

Moving beyond the purely legalistic approach, Pardo (1996) has addressed some ambiguities in parts of Weber's work; in particular, a certain measure of perspectivism in his theory of legitimacy, which is probably traceable to a broader tension in the Weberian definitions of morality and rational conduct (Pardo 1996: Ch. 7 and 2000a: 4). In his seminal work on 'morals of legitimacy' (1995, 1996, 2000), Pardo argues that people do not

automatically accept as legitimate what is officially legal, nor do they necessarily regard as morally illegitimate actions that, by definition, fall outside the strictly-defined boundaries of the law (Pardo 2000a). Interestingly, Mosca (1923) challenged the legal positivistic approach to legitimacy suggesting that in a modern liberal democracy rulers cannot justify their power merely through domination; of course, power has to have a legal basis, but in order to be accepted as legitimate it must also have moral consent.

The social construction, and deconstruction, of legitimacy has, thus, to do more with shared values than with a technical application of specific bounding procedures, such as, among others, political elections. This argument is implicit in Weber's discussion of rational bureaucratic authority when he says that in a democratic government a person elected to office becomes the 'servant of those under his authority' (1947: 389). He also notes, however, that with the historical transformation of the liberal State power has increasingly shifted from the representative body (Parliament) to political parties; that is, to the institutions that should democratically regulate the election of such representative body. MPs have thus de facto ceased to be the representatives of the citizens who elect them, becoming instead the delegates of party factions or selected interests. This raises issues of accountability and trust between citizens and their elected representatives. I have argued that lack of accountability (which may or may not be constitutionally prescribed) erodes people's trust in their elected representatives. Furthermore, breaches of trust weaken the legitimacy of the rulers, posing serious challenges to the social and political order (Pardo 2010: 27) as they run counter a key task of governance; that is, to nurture the connection with citizens' values, needs and expectations (Pardo and Prato 2010).

In my study of political representation, I sought to provide answers to the longdebated and difficult relation of theory to practice. My study of the relationship between political philosophies and actual (and effective) policies in Italy has addressed two main questions. First, I have asked to what extent an ethnographic study of politics can contribute to our understanding of broader processes while steering clear of abstract speculation. Second, I have contended that an informed study of contemporary politics must go beyond the dichotomy between a political philosophical study of the situation as 'it ought to be' and an anthropological study of the situation 'as it is'. From this perspective, I have investigated 'intersubjective' meanings alongside the meanings that individuals give to the social and political contexts in which they operate and have sought to understand the 'ethics of responsibility' that informs people's actions. I have sought to understand what ideal of society and political system individuals aim to accomplish when they, for instance, bring to life a new political organization or advocate new forms of political action. Significantly, a major aim of the new political formations that I observed in Brindisi was to bring 'integrity' back into local administration, which became a fundamental aspect of a new law on local autonomies (Law 14-6-1990 No. 142). According to this law, people who have been legally prosecuted and found guilty of crimes of corruption and of actions against the interests of the state and its citizens cannot be elected to public office. It also states that elected politicians who commit such crimes while in office should be immediately suspended — alas, this Law

has been often changed and selectively applied. For analytical purposes, we need a conceptual definition of 'integrity' beyond political rhetoric. Integrity implies adherence to the moral and ethical principles on the basis of which people evaluate the 'soundness' of a person's moral character and, ultimately, their honesty, accountability and responsibility. As such, integrity carries expectations of other people's actions. While the view of a person's integrity is a significant element in all social relations, it becomes particularly relevant for people who have decision-making power. The challenges raised by the opposition to *partitocrazia* did produce changes in the system. Over time, however, such changes have paradoxically brought about the 'institutionalization' of *sottogoverno*. As new lines of conduct threatened the survival of *sottogoverno*, some established parties preached 'revolutionary changes' that, when acted upon, de facto enforced its rules by law. As Pardo (2000b, 2004) has pointed out, in the post-*tangentopoli* situation, appropriate legislative changes have decriminalized actions that had been previously instrumental in bringing down most political parties, but not, I reiterate, the old party-system.¹

Earlier I mentioned that in the 1990s some traditional Italian parties began a rebranding process also in view of broader changes that were occurring in Europe, specifically in the countries of real socialism. In 1991, during the last phase of my first extended fieldwork in Brindisi, I witnessed the arrival of thousands of illegal Albanian immigrants who wanted to settle in Italy. This was intriguing for many reasons. One was that, at the time, while in many Western European democracies the majority of the population was clearly dissatisfied with what they regarded as a 'corrupt' system of governance, several European Communist countries like Albania were experiencing more or less vociferous movements that demanded democratization. So, almost naturally, my ethnographic interest extended to Albania.

In 1999, I began fieldwork in Albania mainly to study regime change and legal reforms, and their implications for democratic governance (Prato 2004, 2010). Allegations — and proved cases — of corruption and illegality were among the major concerns of foreign observers. Corruption, it was argued, was *the* major obstacle to the Albania's transition to democracy. So, the country's interest in gaining international credibility spurred substantial anti-corruption investigations. Successive governments have implemented various policies in fulfilment of their pledge to fight corruption. Today, foreign commentators seem to take a positive view of what appears to be a decrease of corruption in many institutional sectors. Significantly, however, while the praise of the international community has clearly granted the kind of institutional credibility and legitimacy demanded by supranational organizations, they do not seem to have led to citizens' recognition of such credibility and legitimacy.

My ethnography suggests that the empirical situation in today's Albania is far more complex and articulated than a narrow focus on corruption could reveal. To begin with, I have addressed critically the concept of transition, arguing that an informed analysis should

¹ Pardo (2018) and Sarfati (2018) discuss a similar impact of legislative changes, respectively with reference to Naples and Seoul.

take into account the gradual adjustments, adaptations, negotiations and redefinitions of social identities that are inevitable and necessary in implementing democratic institutions based on the rule of law. In particular, I wanted to know to what extent the new written democratic constitution would guarantee citizens' political participation and full inclusion in society. True, the Preamble of the new Albanian Constitution (1998) emphasizes the aim of building a 'social and democratic state' based on the rule of law and of guaranteeing human rights and equality of opportunity in the framework of a market economy. On paper all this is Constitutionally guaranteed, real life is much diversified.

The majority of Albanians do not feel that they are in control of, or have any influence on, what happens in their country, let alone in their life. My field notes bring out how many feel that some rights are, in fact, denied to them. Furthermore, malpractice, allegations of corruption and abuses of office continue to make the headlines and to be experienced at the grassroots. There is a widespread view of the political élite 'as people who', as an informant put it, 'are just interested in signing international agreements and devising procedures and pursuing personal power, while ostensibly ignoring citizens' needs'. As the partially accomplished economic and judicial reforms have fostered people's discontent, opposition parties have turned what had the making of a serious breakdown of the 'social contract' into an opportunity to gather electoral support, while continuing to be observably unable, or unwilling, to manage the economic and political crises. As another informant recently said, this seems to be a never-ending story in a continuously changing scenario. On the one hand, as in the case of informal urban areas, new approaches to citizens' needs raised among many ordinary Albanians hope for significant change in local governance. On the other hand, this informant remarked, 'national political leaders continue to rely on international "powers", especially the EU and the US, to affirm their legitimacy; meanwhile, they delegate to those powers the task of fulfilling responsibilities that we would expect to be met by our national leaders'. This last observation brings to the fore another important aspect of legitimacy in contemporary society; that is, the role of the international community in legitimizing national affairs (see Koechlin 2018, Mollica 2018 and Spyridakis 2018). As the Albanian case shows, external interventions, can indeed undermine the legitimacy of national rulers and contribute to alienate people further from the formal state's institutions.

Let me offer some concluding remarks on what I learned from these two ethnographic studies. The Italian and Albanian cases suggest that political institutions may be examples of rational-legal formal legitimation (\dot{a} la Weber) but their legitimacy in society is significantly influenced by how rulers exercise their personal responsibility beyond institutional power and the attendant social prestige. Both cases suggest that the relationship between government and citizens needs to be conceived — and acted upon — as one of reciprocity, in the sense that political legitimacy and citizens' loyalty, or obedience, cannot be separated from the belief that the state and its governing institutions will protect their rights and will efficiently respond to their needs. The analysis of both cases has highlighted the important fact that citizens grant — or do not grant — legitimacy by constantly assessing the actions and motivations of their rulers. Both cases ultimately show that the legitimacy of political and

social order is not static; it is complex and changes over time. They show that different sources and competing claims of legitimacy may coexist in a given context. I argue that ethnographic research may help to unravel the complexity and ramification of these competing claims by addressing the aspects of legitimacy that spring from people's shared beliefs and values and how these play out in different contexts, beyond the observance of legal, technical rules.

References

- Koechlin, L. 2018. In or Out? Claims and Practices of Legitimacy in Urban East Africa. In I.Pardo and G.B. Prato (eds), *Legitimacy: Theoretical and Ethnographic Insights*. Palgrave, Forthcoming.
- Mollica, M. 2018. Fearing the Intrusion: Illegal but Legitimate Ethno-religious Dynamics in Lebanon. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 65-69.
- Mosca, G. 1923. Elementi di Scienza Politica. Bari: Laterza.
- Pardo, I. 1995. Morals of Legitimacy in Naples: Streetwise about legality, semi-legality and crime. *European Journal of Sociology*, 36 (1): 44-71.
- Pardo, I. 1996. *Managing Existence in Naples: Morality, Action and Structure*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Pardo, I. 2000a. Introduction–Morals of Legitimacy: Interplay between responsibility, authority and trust. In I. Pardo (ed.).
- Pardo, I. 2000b. When Power Lacks Legitimacy: Relations of Politics and Law to Society in Italy. In I. Pardo (ed.).
- Pardo, I. ed. 2000. Morals of Legitimacy: Between Agency and System. Oxford: Berghahn.
- Pardo, I. 2018. 'Legal', Obnoxious and Unfair: Eroded Legitimacy of Governance in Naples. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 16-22.
- Pardo, I. ed. 2004. *Between Morality and the Law: Corruption, Anthropology and Comparative Society*. Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Pardo, I. and Prato, G.B. eds. 2010. *Citizenship and the Legitimacy of Governance*. Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Prato, G. B. 1995. *Political Representation and New Forms of Political Action in Italy: The Case of Brindisi*. University of London: Ethos.bl.uk.
- Prato, G. B. 2000. The Cherry of the Mayor: Degrees of Morality and Responsibility in Local Italian Administration. In I. Pardo (ed.).
- Prato, G. B. 2004. 'The Devil is not as Wicked as People Believe, neither is the Albanian': Corruption between Moral Discourses and National Identity. In I.Pardo (ed.).
- Prato, G. B. 2010. The 'Costs' of European Citizenship: Governance and Relations of Trust in Albania. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Prato, G. B. 2017. Rethinking the City as Urban Community. In I. Pardo & G.B. Prato (eds), *Palgrave Handbook on Urban Ethnography*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Prato, G. B. 2018. From Nationalization to Neoliberalism. In M. Spyridakis (ed.), Market

versus Society: Anthropological Insights. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

- Sarfati, L. 2018. Morality and Legitimacy in the Sewŏl Protest in South Korea. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 70-73.
- Spyridakis, M. 2018. Legitimacy at Stake: A Short Comment. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 23-26.

Weber, M. 1947. The theory of social and economic organization. New York: Oxford UP.

Weber, M. 1978 [1922]. Economy and Society. Berkeley: University of California Press.

'Legal', Obnoxious and Unfair: Eroded Legitimacy of Governance in Naples

Italo Pardo (University of Kent) i.pardo@kent.ac.uk

The increasing gap between rulers and the ruled is, of course, especially resented in democratic systems. Its very serious ramifications stand on a conundrum that may not be easy to solve but can and should be addressed, with urgency. And yet, to complicate this vexed problem, few rulers seem interested in recognizing its nature, which combines with a dearth of empirical knowledge on the legitimacy of dominant groups' management of power.

My interest in legitimacy and processes of legitimation and de-legitimation (Pardo 1995, 2000) arose in the early 1990s, as I reflected on the sharp contrast between my ethnography of ordinary Neapolitans and the combination of their misrepresentation in the literature and their corresponding mistreatment by their distrusting rulers, who, in turn, enjoyed no trust or legitimacy among most of my informants (Pardo 1995; 2017: 37-43). Then, as now (Pardo 2006: 26-28; 2017), a large proportion of Neapolitans were treated de facto as second-class citizens oppressed by adverse policies that impacted heavily on their lives and informed their growing distance from what they described as 'predatory powersthat-be' who 'ruled by double-standards' (Pardo 2012: 68-73). A committed ethnographer (Pardo 2017: 35-36), I believed that an in-depth understanding of the moral complexity and social value of individual action would help to gain a better view of key dynamics of legitimacy and legality in the relationship between citizenship and governance in the fields of social policy, legislation, integration and access to rights (Pardo 2018). Hence my decision to conduct an anthropological study of how power operates; meaning, in short, that I went to live in Naples and engaged in long-term participant observation among the élite and the construction of case-studies of significant individuals and events. While updating regularly my ethnography on ordinary Neapolitans and extending my empirical interest to immigrants, over the past 28 years I have researched in this fashion key élite groups' management of power and authority (Pardo 2012: 61-65; 2017: 44-47).¹

As this long-term research programme progressed, my sense of the relationship between rulers and the ruled slowly became clearer, contributing to an understanding of the forces that are shaping contemporary Italy. Over time, I have grown aware that 'the establishment' is no longer coherent or collective or competent. Its failings are causing more than schisms, inequalities and precariousness; they threaten the very foundations of democracy. Many years ago, I worried about the danger that the combination of legally established powers that failed to achieve legitimacy in the broader society and ordinary people's informed distrust of those who manned the institutions of the state and, locally, of governance could coalesce in the de-

¹ For more detailed information on these fieldworks and the methods and methodology, see Pardo (1996: Ch1, 2012 and 2017) and Prato and Pardo (2013).

legitimation of those institutions (Pardo 2000). In Italy and very clearly elsewhere this is now a reality, as is graphically brought out by the Greek case (Spyridakis 2018), and perhaps less painfully but equally problematically across the democratic world.

Italy is, of course, an established democracy. But here democracy is not healthy, weakened as it is by broken trust *between* rulers and the ruled and a deep crisis of legitimacy in public life. The democratic contract has been substantially harmed by an entrenched commitment to the grubby trade of legitimacy for power that has left rulers' actions exposed to a demeaning lack of authority. To magnify the problem, this distortion of political responsibility in the exercise of power, in many cases the slanted wielding of official power, has marked political action across the board. There is more.

Critical anomalies have progressively disfigured democracy as a succession of unelected prime ministers and governments have been appointed through a procedure that may be constitutionally correct, therefore entirely legal, but has made Italians feel that they have no say in the matter of who rules them, that they are not citizens but subjects, of barely disguised authoritarianism. Adding scorn to injury, a *cross-party* majority of MPs have repeatedly appeased these choices. As 'the establishment' has consequently lost credibility among the public, a large proportion of Italians have withdrawn from the democratic process. This is significant in a country where, in the past, turnout at the polls was over 80%. When at the last general election (March 2018) electors did exercise their democratic right (the turnout was 73%), they voted overwhelmingly (50% nationally, up to 75% in the South) for protest parties of the left and the right that are not associated with 'the establishment' and whose rhetoric addresses key popular instances. It is unhelpful that, in Italy as elsewhere, these 'alternative' parties have been simplistically — some argue, conveniently — labelled populist.

In Naples, the turnout at the last local election (June 2016) was 50.37%. Against weak traditional parties (of the centre-right *and* the centre-left), the mayor was elected by 65% of those who voted, accounting for 33% of the local electorate. The genesis of this anomaly is seeded in another anomaly, whereby since the *tangentopoli* scandals of the 1990s politically-committed sections of the judiciary have repeatedly taken over a key aspect of the political process, selectively emasculating political competition. Notoriously, while judicial inquiries encourage scandal but often fail to deliver the convictions of accused, many 'new brooms' become involved in abuse of power, bribery and corruption (Pardo 2018). Some avoid jail on technicalities. In Naples I have been asked to note that 'while in office the mayor received a 15-month suspended jail sentence for abuse of office and a hefty fine for libel. He was subsequently suspended from office, appealed and one month later was reinstated on a technicality'. Similarly, his deputy received a 1-year suspended jail sentence for having assaulted a policewoman. He, too, is still in office.

Leading intellectuals and most of the media hailed the 1990s as an age of enlightenment for Naples, the third largest city in Italy. Ethnographic investigation revealed, instead, a problematic relationship between ideology, policy, civil society and the law. I have discussed that unfortunate time for Naples' inhabitants, culminating in the infamous rubbish crisis and the consequent pulmonary and infective diseases and deaths (Pardo 2010). Today, as throughout the past 30 years (Pardo 2012), a legal style of governance meets the interests of select groups linked to who is in power. This at once engenders and thrives on a blurring of the dividing line between what is legal and legitimate and what is legal and not legitimate in public life (Pardo 2018);² particularly, as actions that are conveniently made to be legal through ad hoc municipal decrees and legislation deeply affect local life.

It may be useful to summarize some ramifications of a governance that my informants from all walks of life who live and operate in central Naples, describe as legal but obnoxious, unfair and illegitimate.

For a while, local rulers' ideological fantasy of a largely unspecified 'orange revolution' was electorally convenient. In time, however, their inefficiency and pandering to the interests of extremists have given the game away. Under their watch, urban life has become notable for three, connected, reasons. It is dangerous; polluted by administrative double-standards, rubbish and vermin; and marred by a bread, circus and gallows approach to rule (Pardo 2012, 2018).

Municipal finances and patrimonial resources continue to be mismanaged as close to financial insolvency as it can possibly be without actually going bankrupt (Lo Cicero 2017, Pollice 2018). Much of what is under municipal responsibility, I have been repeatedly asked to note, is in critical conditions. The City Council is responsible for the upkeep of roads, pavements and public buildings, and for most of the local public transport system. The urban road surface is hazardous, pocked with potholes (many very large and deep) that are procuring huge business opportunities for local garages and headaches to insurance companies. Public health is hazardous. Local ER departments report daily occurrences of broken bones and other serious injuries resulting from accidents in badly maintained public property — broken or uneven walkways; large and deep potholes; pieces of public buildings that fall on pedestrians, and so on. Public space continues to yield medieval visions of filth, rubbish strewn across roads and pavements, rats, cockroaches, stray cats and feral packs of dogs. The public transport system not only is marred by inefficiency, redundancies and strikes; it is perilously near total collapse (Del Tufo 2018). As the local leader of the Centre-left Democratic Party recently noted, 'in 1997 there were 800 buses, now there are 300 and they are 17-years-old, and often out of action'.³ Interestingly, in this situation EU funds meant to contribute to the development of an 'integrated urban transport system' have been used to draw bicycle pictograms on unlikely roads, walk-sides, under outdoors restaurant and bar tables and even on stairs across the city.

There is more. For instance, one thinks of the rich ethnography of mismanagement of power that fosters difficult relationships between the autochthonous population and the ever-

 $^{^{2}}$ For lack of space, I cannot discuss actions that take place at the grassroots and that are officially illegal but are seen as legitimate by the actors and their significant others. I refer the interested reader to my separate works (for example, Pardo 1995, 1996, 2009, 2017).

³ See Il Mattino, 2 April 2016. <u>https://www.ilmattino.it/napoli/politica/nuovo_item-1643478.html</u>

growing number of immigrants,⁴ which strongly contributes to turning the autochthonous population's natural tolerance into toleration and, then, as citizens' instances remain unaddressed and problems unsolved, into intolerance (Pardo 2009: 122-14; Prato 2009). Take the case of local authorities turning a blind eye over the scavenging and sale of rubbish that has been going on in Naples for many years. Residents must put their rubbish in plastic bags and then deposit these bags overnight in dumpsters permanently placed by the walk-side; the dumpsters are emptied early in the morning. Immigrants are regularly seen extracting from these dumpsters objects (mainly shoes and clothes) that they then proceed to display and sell from rugs thrown on the pavement. This phenomenon takes place daily across central Naples. Local residents and traders resent that 'despite the legal and health issues involved, this kind of trade goes on unchallenged, including in the very hot Summer time'. Shopkeepers and their associations have lodged detailed complains. Exemplifying their grievances, one of them said, 'since these people started doing this, sales have dropped by 50% because the street is always dirty and unhealthy'. In the face of the authorities' failure to act, extremist groups have mounted organized attacks against the rubbish traders and, on some occasions, have been joined by local residents. Eventually, in a show of action, the local administration decreed that anyone caught rummaging in dumpsters would be fined €500.00 on the spot.⁵ For a few days this new decree was zealously enforced. Within 24 hours from its publication, fines were issued (La Repubblica Napoli, 27 November 2014) and left unpaid, because the transgressors were officially destitute or could not be identified because they had no documents. As this phenomenon continues, the protests and violence have evolved into a semi-permanent vigilantism that makes more unfriendly a city that, in the experience of my informants and, as noted by the radical leftist regional governor,⁶ is marred by increasing street violence and inefficiency.

These dynamics tally with illegal immigrant dealers being allowed, by default, literally to monopolise walk-sides, gardens and squares, while the autochthonous licensed traders are heavily fined for exceeding the space allocated on their trading licenses. They are identified and must pay — 'unlike', as one of them noted, 'the illegal peddlers who operate here, run from the police just to reappear when it is safe, and if caught cannot be made to pay because officially they've no income and often no identity documents'. A young man who was forced by the municipal police to close his stall because he could not pay the fine was, 'sorely aware that unlicensed illegal immigrants can sell what they want where they want'. He remarked, 'why I can't sell my wares but they can sell my rubbish?'

Analytically, the violent actions of local extremist groups and their ideology of the state as the enemy make an interesting contrast with the kind of lawful protest enjoying legitimacy

⁴ *Officially*, in 2015 there were 48.565 foreign residents in Naples, accounting for 5% of the population. They were Sri Lankans 25.4%; Ukrainians 16.9%; Africans 11.4%; Chinese 10.2%. (Comune di Napoli 2014 and 2015).

⁵ See *NapoliTime*, 28/11/2014, <u>http://www.napolitime.it/59631-mercato-abusivo-dei-rifiuti-napoli-il-sindaco-ferma-questa-pratica.html</u>

⁶ See *Il Mattino*, 16/03/ 2018, <u>http://ilmattino.it/napoli/politica/de_luca_liberare_napoli_da_violenza-</u>3610897.html

at the grassroots in the Canadian (Boucher 2018), South Korean (Sarfati 2018) and US (Krase and Krase 2018) cases discussed in this Special Issue. Local commentators denounce today's governance as deeply embroiled with these groups. Antonio Polito (2018), the deputy editor of an authoritative centre-left newspaper, describes how these malcontents 'have become his [the mayor's] party' and 'his militant guardians'. They, he adds, operate in the name and on behalf of the mayor, often engaging in violent clashes with the police. In turn, they have been allowed to settle in publicly owned buildings, as in the case of the Asilo Filangieri. This building of important historical value was restored at public expense to be used as a venue for international cultural events. Like several similar buildings in the city, it was illegally occupied by radical groups, who were later turned into legal occupants through ad hoc Municipal Decrees (of 25/05/2012, 29/12/2015 and 01/06/2016); now local rulers are under investigation for abuse of office and damage to the public purse (Postiglione 2017). Adding to this political and legal chaos, as noted by Polito and other commentators, Naples councilors in power, who argue a Venezuela-style future for the city, have recently led protest marches to block the visit of a prime minister and several leading politicians whom they do not like. Local leftist intellectuals point out that the season of violent demonstrations geared up in 2017 (Macry 2018), when the mayor proclaimed that the leader of a centre-right party committed to prosecuting and expelling illegal immigrants from the country must not speak in Naples. Macry goes on to remind us of the furious urban guerrilla that ensued, as iron-bar-armed demonstrators, their faces covered, threw Molotov cocktails, stones and other missiles at the police, badly injuring thirty policemen. Similar actions continue to take place.

From Naples, as from the rest of Italy, the view is dire: The gulf between the ruling élite and the rest widens. Authoritative governance appears ever more chimerical. The crisis of legitimacy in public life deepens.

References

- Boucher, N. 2018. Legitimacy and Symbolic Politics in a Neoliberal City. *Urbanities-Journal* of Urban Ethnography, 8 (suppl. 1): 49-54.
- Comune di Napoli. 2014 and 2015. *Bollettino di Statistica*. Naples: Sistan Sistema Statistico Nazionale.
- Del Tufo, V. 2018. Napoli, trasporti lacrime e sangue ma nessuno pensa ai cittadini. *Il Mattino*, 20 March,

http://ilmattino.it/napoli/politica/napoli trasporti nessuno pensa cittadini commento vittorio del tufo -3618197.html

Krase, J and Krase, K. 2018. Undermining Governmental Legitimacy: Failed Expectations of Community Accountability. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 42-48.

Lo Cicero, M. 2017. Conti in rosso al Comune di Napoli. Il Mattino, 7 July,

https://www.ilmattino.it/napoli/politica/conti_in_rosso_al_comune_di_napoli_il_purg atorio_del_predissesto_e_l_inferno_che_si_e_spalancato-2561960.html

- Macry, P. 2018. Se il fascismo è violenza chi sono i veri fascisti? *Il Mattino*, 24 February. <u>http://ilmattino.it/primopiano/cronaca/se_il_fascismo_e_violenza_chi_sono_i_veri_fas</u> <u>cisti-3567685.html</u>.
- Pardo, I. 1995. Morals of legitimacy in Naples: Streetwise about legality, semi-legality, and crime. *European Journal of Sociology*, 36 (1): 44-71.
- Pardo, I. 1996. *Managing Existence in Naples: Morality, Action, and Structure*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Pardo, I. ed. 2000. Morals of Legitimacy: Between Agency and System. Oxford: Berghahn.
- Pardo, I. 2006. Political Expediency and Mismanagement of Responsibility: An Italian Case.
 In G. B. Prato (ed.), *Political Ideology, Citizenship, Identity: Anthropological Approaches*. Special issue of *Global Bioethics*, 19 (1): 21-29. Florence: University of Florence Press. <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/11287462.2006.10800882</u>
- Pardo, I. 2009. Dynamics of Exclusion and Integration: A Sobering View from Italy. In G. B. Prato (ed.).
- Pardo, I. 2010. Italian Rubbish: Elemental Issues of Citizenship and Governance. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Pardo, I. and Prato, G. B. eds. 2010. *Citizenship and the Legitimacy of Governance: Anthropology in the Mediterranean Region*. Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Pardo, I. 2012. Exercising Power without Authority: Elite Groups Implode in Urban Italy. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Pardo, I. and Prato, G. B. eds. 2012. *Anthropology in the City: Methodology and Theory*. Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Pardo, I. 2017. Between Stereotype and Bad Governance: An Italian Ethnography. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds), *Palgrave Handbook on Urban Ethnography*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Pardo, I. 2018. Corrupt, Abusive and Legal: Italian Breaches of the Democratic Contract. *Current Anthropology*, 59 (Suppl. 18): 17-22 <u>https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/full/10.1086/695804</u>
- Polito, A. 2018. Centri sociali in Parlamento? Sogno politico 'made in Naples'. Corriere del Mezzogiorno, 25 February. <u>http://corrieredelmezzogiorno.corriere.it/napoli/politica/18 febbraio 25/centri-sociali-</u> parlamento-sogno-politico-made-naples-f551cb0c-1a05-11e8-b031-504dc3801aba.shtml
- Pollice, A. 2018. Napoli a rischio dissesto. *Il Manifesto*, 8 March. <u>https://ilmanifesto.it/napoli-a-rischio-dissesto-de-magistris-lo-impediremo/</u>
- Postiglione, F. 2017. Dall'ex Asilo Filangieri all'Opg, doppia inchiesta sui beni comuni: Indagine sugli affidamenti del Comune di Napoli ad associazioni e centri sociali. *Corriere del Mezzogiorno*, 18 September.

- Prato, G. B. 2009. Introduction Beyond Multiculturalism: Anthropology at the Intersections between the Local, the National and the Global. In G. B. Prato (ed.).
- Prato, G. B. ed. 2009. *Beyond Multiculturalism: Views from Anthropology*. Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Prato, G. B. and Pardo, I. 2013. 'Urban Anthropology'. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 3 (2): 80-110.
- Sarfati, L. 2018. Morality and Legitimacy in the Sewŏl Protest in South Korea *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 70-73.
- Spyridakis, M. 2018. Legitimacy at Stake: A Short Comment. Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography, 8 (suppl. 1): 23-26.

Legitimacy at Stake: A Short Comment

Manos Spyridakis (University of the Peloponnese) <u>maspy@uop.gr</u>

After the 'golden era' of welfare capitalism, contemporary western societies experience a steady tendency related with the passage from an 'ex-affluent' society to a qualitatively different one, where the dominant characteristics are increasing insecurity and employment deprivation. No matter how one names this uneasy time, the fact is that it induces changes in the social world of work, in the social welfare state and the related policies, and it often does so in brutal and violent ways, as the current European recession shows. It is in this context that the notion of legitimacy should be read, since power holders must convince 'power subjects' that the command-obedience relation is 'rightful' and legitimate, no matter whether there is a 'reward' for compliance (Matheson 1987). This relation rests upon a kind of 'social contract' whereby mutual rights and obligations apply to both sides. As Pardo has indicated (2000: 7-8, 13), the cornerstone of this contract is trust, which, he stresses, must work both ways in order to work at all. Hence, we are reminded that trust, in one way or another, determines the level of moral and political legitimacy of any kind of authority.

Be that as it may, it seems that contemporary European societies question significantly the bonds of this contract as people gradually came to believe that the rulers whom they elect lack credibility and exert 'power without responsibility' (Pardo 2000: 7). In social terms this means that to the extent that legitimacy is highly contested ordinary people worry about both the status of their citizenship and the condition of their social reproduction. This is more than obvious in the case of the Greek economic recession. Greek governments made the strategic choice to deal with the crisis by implementing a policy of internal devaluation. At the same time, with the support of the majority of the mass media, they tried to convince the public that their choice was correct. So, they undertook to turn the narrative about the economic crisis into a dominant one that legitimated the successive memoranda representing the policy of internal devaluation as effective, necessary and fair. In essence, they attempted to present the recession measures as unavoidable on the basis of two main arguments. It was maintained that, a) these measures would correct the 'bad habits' and the 'pathogens' that had brought the country to the edge of destruction; and, b) these measures were necessary and fair because all Greek citizens were responsible for the crisis since they kept demanding personal favours from the political system and, consequently, supported the exercise of a populist policy based on money borrowing that made it possible to consume more than the country produced. However, as recent evidence shows (INE-GSEE 2014), this strategy seems to have failed.

According to this evidence, the majority of the people are by no means convinced that the memoranda are some kind of blessing. This is particularly evident in the Athens region, the most populated area in Greece. The magnitude of this strategic failure is significant among those who have suffered most from the crisis; that is, pensioners and housewives. The vast majority of the Greek public opinion has not accepted the view that, thanks to the memoranda, the crisis offers an opportunity to modernize Greek society and thus improve the lives of Greek citizens.

There is no optimistic climate among citizens living in the Athens region. Significantly, 38% hold a feeling of insecurity and 31% of anger. In other words, it has become clear that most Greek citizens are predominantly animated by 'negative' feelings, such as insecurity and anger; they, therefore, approach life negatively, which is not surprising considering that they are far away from exiting the crisis. In addition, one of the symptoms of the current recession is related to the almost universal decline in the value attached to state and political institutions. More specifically, according to the survey, the trade unions, the state, parliament and the political parties have lost citizens' trust at levels ranging from 84% to 88%. On the contrary, trust in 'non-political' institutions (in the strict sense of the term) such as the church and, above all, the family, is growing significantly. This is related also to the fact that the economic crisis has led to a reconsideration of citizens' values and attitudes. 68% say that they now attach more value to family (16%), friendship (11%), solidarity (9%) and social relations (9%). Citizens therefore put more emphasis and invest more emotionally in interpersonal relations. There is, however, also a shift towards zeroing values, as is suggested by the fact that 32% answered 'none' when asked to indicate 'values that you estimate most after the crisis'.

The narrative produced by the political élite does not seem to have prevailed. At the same time, one cannot say that another coherent, alternative and comprehensive narrative has prevailed. This makes it possible for the economic crisis to turn into a social crisis of trust, thus undermining an element that is essential to social interaction (Pardo 2000, INE-GSEE 2014). Echoing Pardo and Prato (2010), Muro and Vidal (2014) note that in the countries of southern Europe, the economic crisis has turned into a social crisis of trust because political institutions could not bridge, or even manage, the gap between what their citizens were asking them to do and what they are forced to do; a gap that is due both to the country's participation in the complex institutional system of the European Union (henceforth, EU) and to globalization. According to the World Bank, although people's economic performance has improved in those countries, they do not believe that they can achieve what they want.

During the crisis, the trust of Greek people did not decrease only in respect to the domestic institutions, but also to the EU. Undoubtedly, most Greeks still trust the European institutions more than the domestic ones. However, it cannot be denied that because of the crisis the relationship of trust that had been built between the Greek public opinion and European institutions since the country's accession to the then EEC has been severely wounded. According to the Eurobarometer (European Commission 2014), while in November 2009 56% of Greeks had a positive image of the EU, today the proportion of Greeks who say they trust the EU is only 23% — the lowest in Europe. This is directly linked to the fact that: a) 78% of Greek citizens consider the EU as the main responsible for the austerity policy that has existed since 2009; b) more than other Europeans, the Greeks are pessimistic about the future of Europe. This is, however, not a Greek peculiarity. According to Eurofound (2013), since 2009 fewer Europeans trust the EU, domestic governments and domestic parliaments. In

other words, the crisis period, along with the reduction in support for domestic political institutions, has also brought about lower trust in the EU.

This process of de-legitimation goes hand-in-hand with pauperization. According to the aforementioned survey (INE-GSEE 2014), the economic crisis has negatively affected 92% of respondents. The most negative effects concern women, people over 55 and domestic workers. The negative impact of the crisis is on income (95%), consumer spending (94%), entertainment (86%), healthcare (73%) and labour rights (60%). The dominant sentiments are insecurity (especially among women) and anger (especially among men) whereas, as I have said earlier, trust in institutions (the state, the parties, parliament, the trade unions) has fallen greatly. These data seem to be consistent with those produced in the latest OECD survey for Greece (OECD 2014). According to this survey, the average Greek household has been severely hit by the crisis, with repercussions that are particularly evident in the household income, jobs, life satisfaction and participation in public affairs. Especially unemployment has had a significant impact on the level of life satisfaction. Between 2007 and 2013, the proportion of Greeks who said that they were very satisfied with their lives declined from 59% to 23%, the lowest percentage in OECD countries. Citizens' trust in the institutions and the way democracy works has also fallen during the crisis. The proportion of Greeks who say they trust the government declined from 38% to 14% between 2007 and 2013 (OECD 2014).

Taken as a whole, the evidence shows that the crisis has been transferred also to social reproduction, dramatically affecting the biological reproduction potential of the population, adding a greater burden of informal social welfare to the family and to the unpaid work of women and driving a large proportion of the population to question seriously some aspects of the social welfare institutions. Three in four households cannot meet their current needs and find recourse either to borrowing or to using their savings in attempting to do so. One can observe a similar situation elsewhere in Southern Europe, for example in Italy and Spain. There, too, the austerity measures imposed by governments in the wake of the economic crisis have burdened families with added economic and social costs, particularly in terms of social reproduction.

In this context, the level of people's recognition of the legitimacy of institutions and processes that were traditionally unquestioned is clearly at stake. The rise of extreme fascist and populist political powers seems to warn us that a historically catastrophic crisis of legitimacy is *ante portas*. Both political institutions and society at large should heed this warning and take action. First, they should abandon the dominant model that identifies structural changes with fiscal discipline, privatization and the degradation of labour relations and the welfare state. Second, they need to work out a new development strategy that promotes not only fiscal consolidation but also an overall productive restructuring of the European economy.

References

- Eurofound. 2013. *Political trust and civic engagement during the crisis*. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.
- European Commission. 2014. *Standard Eurobarometer No 82, Report -Public Opinion in the European Union, TNS Opinion & Social* (Fieldwork: November 2014; Publication: December 2014).

INE-GSEE. 2014. The condition of consumption of employment in Greece, Athens: ALCO.

- Matheson, G. 1987. Weber and the Classification of Forms of Legitimacy. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 38 (2): 199-215.
- Muro, D. and Vidal, G. 2014. Who is to Blame? Political Mistrust and the Great Recession in Southern Europe. Unpublished Research Paper.
- OECD. 2014. How's life in Greece. OECD Better Life Initiative.
- Pardo, I. 2000. Introduction—Morals of Legitimacy: Interplay between Responsibility, Authority and Trust. In I. Pardo (ed.), *Morals of Legitimacy: Between Agency and System*. Oxford: Berghahn.
- Pardo, I. and Prato, G. B. 2010. Introduction: Disconnected Governance and the Crisis of legitimacy. In I. Pardo and G.B. Prato (eds), *Citizenship and the Legitimacy of Governance: Anthropology in the Mediterranean Region*, Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).

Legitimacy Crisis: Commonalities and Differences

Z. Nurdan Atalay (University of Mardin, Turkey) <u>znurdan.atalay@gmail.com</u>

Today there is growing world-wide discontent about the way liberal democracy operates. The representation of this discontent varies from support given to authoritarian tendencies to increasing support for far-right parties, from decreasing tolerance of various social groups like refugees or women to discussions on limiting voting rights. When we look closer into this discontent, we might argue that there is a growing crisis of legitimacy. Legitimacy is a crucial concept for us to understand the foundations of modern society. It refers both to acceptance and to sharing of morality and belief. It allows for the possibility of both trust and recognition to inform social relations. Yet, these features may generate ambiguity as well as contradiction. We could identify these ambiguities and growing discontent in each ethnographic study discussed at the workshop on *Erosions of Legitimacy and Urban Futures: Ethnographic Research Matters* that was held in Sicily in 2017 under the auspices of the International Urban Symposium.

In this short contribution, I reflect on this discontent drawing on my Turkish ethnography. I also try to highlight how this links to the common themes that emerged from the discussions and consider some possible future scenarios. My ethnography on financialization in Turkey centres on the changing dynamics of citizenship, the analysis of which brings out complex three-party relationships among citizens, banks and the state. I examine the contradictory relationship between legitimacy and legality in this context focusing on the case study of actors and institutions that operate in the financial field. A key point is that 'predatory acts' by the banks are made legal through state regulation but are considered to be illegitimate by ordinary citizens.

In the modern democratic state, legality is supposed to be the main official source of legitimacy. However, the relationship between law and legitimacy appears to be ambiguous for two important reasons.

First, legality may well not be the only source of legitimacy. As discussed by several contributors to the workshop on the basis of their ethnographies, different moralities may inform ideas of what is legitimate and what is not legitimate. Anthropologists have highlighted these different moralities in their field (Pardo 1995, 2000, and contributions in Pardo ed. 2000 and 2004). Formally, when different moralities confront each other, the legal structure is the final decision maker. In practice, things may well be different. In my ethnography, as there was no regulation on credit card membership fees, the courts have decided in favour of citizens and against the banks. Then, the state produced rules on this issue which favour the banks. As a consequence, legal routes were closed for ordinary citizens. In this case, meeting a key argument on the morality of the law (Pardo 2000), the basic question to ask is, Who writes the law and in whose interest? The role of power relations in modern society becomes the key problematic, as the partnership between the state

and capital becomes more visible. This is important, especially considering that in this context citizens' ability to change, manipulate or question the powers-that-be is decreasing gradually. Power differences among the people and groups involved in these processes become observable in relation to the implementation of the law. In the Turkish case, as elsewhere (see contributions in Pardo and Prato 2010), the gap between the powerful and the less powerful has brought about a crisis of legitimacy.

Second, the borders of legality are not confined to the borders of the nation state, as various international and supranational powers have a say on legal issues. In the age of the global economy, international capital has a certain amount of influence on national decision-making processes. Sometimes, this influence can be observed directly as in the Greek case discussed by Spyridakis (2018). To stay on the Turkish case, I note that the share of foreign capital in the banking sector is relatively high. This also influences the way in which ordinary citizens see legitimacy. People are aware that as far as finance capital is concerned the main components of legitimacy, particularly accountability and control mechanisms do not function. They believe that, through voting, they have a certain amount of control over the actions of the government. There are however no control mechanisms over power groups, who, on the other hand, exert a strong influence on the country's affairs, and especially on its legislation.

These two processes can be clearly observed in the process of financialization in Turkey. Firstly, financialization has weakened the borders of nation state, which is significant, considering the Weberian concept (1978) that in democratic societies the idea of legitimacy is linked directly to the nation state and the rule of law. Secondly, the coalition between the state and capital has become more visible; in particular, when considering one fraction of capital, namely finance capital (Streeck 2014). Thirdly, the relationship between legality and legitimacy is seen as particularly questionable in a financial field where the law is interpreted and applied in the interest of finance capital. The visibility of financial capital and its links with the state have brought out a double problem for citizenship, as this has added an important feature to the dynamics of inclusion and exclusion and of full citizenship for those who have access and those who do not (Leyshon and Thrift 1995, Pardo and Prato 2010, Kear 2012). This has also contributed to a process of financialization that has increased the gap between rulers and the ruled (Pardo and Prato 2010). This combination of adverse processes has brought a crisis of democracy (Walby 2013) and the end of democratic citizenship (Streeck 2014).

A common theme that emerged from the workshop was that urban settings provide an opportunity to observe better the interaction between micro and macro processes, which is crucial for us to understand the empirical negotiations on legitimacy. Legitimacy, we agreed, not only needs to be earned; it must also be sustained through time and various circumstances. Urban settings offer opportunities to ordinary citizens with different moralities to interact and become actively involved in the dynamic process of legitimization. Hurtado-Tarazona (2018) shows that in Colombia this means becoming an integrated dweller in new housing complexes, while Boucher (2018) brings out ordinary people's engaging in discussions and

actions on the meaning of public space in Canada. In Turkey, becoming engaged in the process of legitimation means defending rights collectively through civil society associations.

Ordinary citizens, I have found, are most critical about the credit card membership fees. Why are they against these fees? Contrary to other cases, the credit card membership fee was introduced lately in Turkey (Aysan 2012). Since its introduction, it became a source of dispute among customers, banks and state. There was no specific regulation and both individual strategies and special deals with banks allow exceptions to take place. Citizens are trying to find a way to deal with this situation. Through NGOs and customer protection associations, they are calling for the state to take action against the 'illegitimate behaviour' of banks. In this case, 'illegitimate behaviour' refers to extra costs, including annual credit card membership fees and other payments and hidden fees. Individuals usually fight this 'illegitimacy' through the judicial system. The aforementioned court decisions in favour of citizens started to create an extra financial burden for the banks, which they try to avoid by appealing to the judicial system. The state did not intervene; it just watched what was going on. This dispute continued until 2014, when new regulation was introduced and the 'illegitimate behaviour' of banks was made 'legal', closing the way for associations and individuals to take legal action. In spite of these new regulations, people continue to ask for regulatory reform in favour of citizens, not the banks. It is, I note, precisely because in a modern democratic system it is the state that provides legitimacy through the rule of law that, despite all, Turkish citizens are still asking for state intervention into this controversial field.

The globally linked economy also emerged as a common theme among several contributions to the workshop. In particular, I found interesting that the effects of financial flows could be observed in various ethnographies. Although the relationship between the urban construction sector and the financial capital was not explicitly discussed, this relation is one of the forces behind the high rates of urbanization and rapid transformation, as in the case of Kenya (Koechlin 2018), Colombia (Hurtado-Tarazona 2018) and the U.S.A. (Krase and Krase 2018). The effects of the globally linked economy are clearly observable in the financialization in Turkey. There are 21 foreign capital banks in the country, accounting for around half of the total number of 47; they offer the kind of global banking products, like credit cards and all kinds of consumer credit, that are available in every country but they do so in accordance with the conditions in Turkey that I have outlined.

A key issue is, I reiterate, the relationship between citizenship and legitimacy. The widening gap between governors and citizens has been identified as one of the reasons behind the erosion legitimacy in democratic society (Pardo and Prato eds 2010). Citizens are widely resentful of their legally limited ability to control rulers, as discussed in the ethnographies from Italy (Pardo 2018), Albania (Prato 2018), Greece (Spyridakis 2018) and Turkey. They are cognizant of the interaction among local, national and international processes and they also question rulers' right to make decisions that adversely affect their lives. As I have mentioned, the asymmetric relations between national governments and international powers such as the European Union and the centres of financial capital have increased the discontent among ordinary citizens. This kind of asymmetric relations also mars relations among

unequal citizens, businesses and, notably, also cities within a nation state. As power differences become observable in policy areas and are experienced in daily life, citizens lose trust in the establishment and its legitimacy. The legislation that has been passed in this field has generated a serious crisis, increasing 'the gap between the ruled and the rulers' (Pardo and Prato 2010).

As a result of this growing discontent, possible future scenarios are not optimistic. In my empirical experience, many ordinary people hold a pessimistic view of the future and it is from such a viewpoint that they tend to develop alternative frames of reference for what they regard as legitimate, as well as new value systems and practices. So, the relationship between the legality and legitimacy is turned on its head; here, being legally grounded does not grant legitimacy to the new regulation.

What would be the possible outcomes of these developments? Do we expect that legitimacy crisis to deepen? Do we need to talk about different 'legitimacy' claims? Do we need to recognize, investigate and understand the different dynamics that inform the processes of legitimation in specific contexts? As discussed in the workshop, people tend to search for possible sources of legitimacy. They turn to neighbourhood (Abraham 2018), or to civic/grassroots organizations (Boucher 2018, Krase and Krase 2018), or refer to different loyalties (Mollica 2018), or form 'pirate' alternatives to public services (Hurtado-Tarazona 2018). Overall, people at the grassroots create 'different repertories' (Koechlin 2018), either to modify the dynamics of legitimation (Pardo 2018, Prato 2018, Uherek 2018) or to attempt for the redefinition of the border between legality and legitimacy as in the case of Italy (Pardo 2018) and Turkey. Therefore, the researcher has to consider different sources of legitimacy and different mechanisms of legitimation. Given the crisis of legitimacy generated by the processes that I have briefly discussed, a point of reference is probably needed for people to stay together as citizens of any particular state. Inevitably, in modern democratic capitalist societies, this point of reference is the legitimacy of the state; serious problems arise when this is questioned (Pardo 2010, 2018). I suggest that, in order to understand different 'claims' of legitimacy, we need to study in depth these processes and their impact on people's view of what is legitimate and what is not legitimate. In this endeavour the ethnographic approach has a critical role to play.

References

- Abraham, J. 2018. Exploring the Contours of Legitimacy in Neighbourhoods in North Kerala, India. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 32-37.
- Aysan, F. (Ed.). 2012. Türkiye'de Kredi Kartı Piyasası. Ankara: Türkiye Cumhuriyeti Merkez Bankası.
- Boucher, N. 2018. Legitimacy and Symbolic Politics in a Neoliberal City. *Urbanities-Journal* of Urban Ethnography, 8 (suppl. 1): 49-54.
- Kear, M. 2012. 'Governing Homo Subprimicus: Beyond Financial Citizenship, Exclusion, and Rights', *Antipode*, Vol.00, No.0, 1-21, DOI: 10.1111/j.1467; 8330.2012.01045.x.

- Leyshon, A. and Thrift, N. 1995. 'Geographies of financial exclusion', *Transaction of the Institute of British Geographers*, Vol.20 (3): 312-341.
- Hurtado-Tarazona, A. 2018. Issues of Legitimacy among Social Housing Residents in Soacha, Colombia. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 38-41.
- Koechlin, L. 2018. Claims and Practices of Legitimacy in Urban East Africa. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 55-59.
- Krase, J. and Krase, K. 2018. Undermining Governmental Legitimacy: Failed Expectations of Community Accountability. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 42-48.
- Mollica, M. 2018. Fearing the Intrusion: Illegal but Legitimate Ethno-religious Dynamics in Lebanon. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 65-69.
- Pardo, I. 1995. Morals of legitimacy in Naples: Streetwise about legality, semi-legality, and crime. *European Journal of Sociology*, 36 (1): 44-71.
- Pardo, I. 2000. Introduction—Morals of legitimacy: Interplay between responsibility, morality and trust. In Pardo (ed.).
- Pardo, I. ed. 2000. Morals of Legitimacy: Between Agency and System. Oxford: Berghahn.
- Pardo, I. ed. 2004. *Between Morality and the Law. Corruption, Anthropology and Comparative Society*. Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Pardo, I. and Prato, G.B. 2010 Introduction: Disconnected Governance and the Crisis of legitimacy. In I. Pardo and G.B. Prato (eds).
- Pardo, I. 2010. Italian rubbish: Elemental Issues of Citizenship and Governance. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds.).
- Pardo, I. and Prato, G. B. eds. 2010. *Citizenship and the Legitimacy of Governance: Anthropology in the Medterranean Region*. Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Pardo, I. 2018. 'Legal', Obnoxious and Unfair: Eroded Legitimacy of Governance in Naples. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 16-22.
- Prato, G. B. 2018. Dynamics of Legitimacy: Formal and Informal Contexts. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 9-15.
- Spyridakis, M. 2018. Legitimacy at Stake: A Short Comment. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 23-26.
- Streeck, W. 2014. *Buying Time: The Delayed Crisis of Democratic Capitalism*, London, New York: Verso.
- Uherek, Z. 2018. Political Participation and Legitimization of Power. The State and the Family: A Romani Case. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 74-78.
- Walby, S. 2013. 'Finance versus democracy? Theorizing finance in society', *Work, Employment and Society*, 27:3, 489-507. DOI: 10.1177/09500170134797741.
- Weber, M. 1978 [1922]. *Economy and Society: An Outline of Interpretive Sociology*. Berkeley CA: University of California Press.

Exploring the Contours of Legitimacy in Neighbourhoods in North Kerala, India

Janaki Abraham (University of Delhi) janaki.abraham@gmail.com

During fieldwork in Thalassery in North Kerala I was struck by how neighbourhood spaces were strong sites of legitimacy and social control, while also being spaces of friendship and support. In Thalassery, a neighbour's presence at the event meant to finalise a marriage was crucial and a local elder (*nattu makkyastan*) would officiate at a wedding when there was no priest. *Natakar enna parayum*? (What will the neighbours say?) was a constant refrain and indicated the importance given to what the neighbours considered legitimate. Social control also seemed to be exercised partly through gossip, although in varying degrees in different kinds of neighbourhood. In my field work carried out both in Kerala and later in the northern state of Rajasthan has emerged a strong influence of the neighbourhood in everyday life; for example, in consumer choices, girls and women's education, clothing conventions¹ or employment.

While the disciplines of anthropology, sociology, geography and urban planning have long traditions of neighbourhood studies that go back to the late nineteenth century,² a great deal of the literature has been preoccupied with what Pardo and Prato call a 'problem-centred approach' (2013: 85) coupled with a focus on poverty and poor neighbourhoods.³ In contrast, I am interested in understanding the space of neighbourhoods, their influence on everyday life and the ways in which the neighbourhood is a site of legitimacy in everyday life and its transformations.

Drawing predominantly on the ethnographic contexts of two neighbourhoods in Thalassery in North Kerala, India, in this short contribution to the debate on legitimacy I seek to explore the contours of legitimacy in neighbourhoods. In addressing these questions, I am influenced by Pardo's call for a 'more comprehensive view of the dynamics of legitimacy, and its relations to authority and power' (2000: 4). I also draw on the rich discussions held during the IUS workshop *Erosions of Legitimacy and Urban Futures: Ethnographic Research Matters* held in September 2017.

¹ See Abraham 2010 for the influence of a neighbourhood on veiling practices.

 $^{^{2}}$ A perfect example is the famous study by Whyte (1955 [1943]). For a good discussion of this production, see Sanjek (1999).

³ See Sampson, Morenoff and Gannon-Rowley (2002). One exception was Massey's study in which he discussed urban concentrations in which the poor would be exposed to crime, disease and violence and concentrations of affluence which 'enhance the benefits and privilege of the rich' (1996: 395).

Two Neighbourhoods in Thalassery, North Kerala

Neighbourhoods are a strong influence in everyday life, not least because of the sensorial intimacy that a neighbourhood brings to it. The sights, sounds and smells mean that neighbours often know intimate details about those who live near them — they hear quarrels, smell what is being cooked, see who visits and when, and so on. It is both this sensorial intimacy and a shared sensorial landscape in everyday life that make the neighbourhood such a powerful influence in people's lives.

As I discuss below, neighbourhoods are constituted through a variety of practices: reciprocity, friendship, worship, control or violence. The circle of who one considers a neighbour varies, pointing to the fact that while neighbourhoods need to be seen as entities that are constituted though proximity and friendship, caste, or political ideology, it is important to recognize that they are also shaped through particular non-everyday events — such as a political killing, or communal violence.

Between 1996 and 1998 I did an intensive fieldwork for over 18 months in two neighbourhoods in Thalassery. Since then, over these twenty years, I have visited these neighbourhoods for shorter periods. One neighbourhood is located in the municipality area of Thalassery, the other is located in the neighbouring village area. Both neighbourhoods are heterogeneous in terms of class and religion. However, there are significant differences between the two which I will detail briefly below.

The neighbourhood in the town has, on average, larger house plots and includes several large houses which used to be matrilineal joint family (*tharavad*) homes. Most houses have compound walls that divide one house compound from another. There is a mix of Hindu households of different castes, Muslims and some Christians, including a provincial house for nuns where I lived while I did field work in the area. I call this neighbourhood Pattamkunnu (*kunnu* in Malayalam means hill and the neighbourhood is on a little hill that slopes down to the shore of the Arabian sea).

The other neighbourhood, Devaloor, is centred on a place of worship — a *kavu*, or forest shrine, which is now large and is famous for a temple festival in which the epic Ramayana is performed. As is common of neighbourhoods centred around a place of worship, Devaloor is predominantly inhabited by Thiyyas, the caste that manages the temple. The Thiyyas are an in-between caste, who suffered untouchability and are known by their traditional occupation of toddy tapping⁴ and coconut tree climbing. The neighbourhood has a mix of households based on class and strong kinship networks, as a result of the partition of property among kin over several generations. Another significant difference between the two neighbourhoods was that in 1996 houses in Devaloor were closer to each other, very few had compound walls and paths often passed the front of houses, resulting in a greater visibility and interaction.

⁴ Toddy is coconut tree sap.

The Contours of Legitimacy in the Two Neighbourhoods

In both neighbourhoods, neighbours were considered very important. At weddings, in the event of a death or in other significant events, neighbours help a lot. At these events, young men from the neighbourhood help construct the tent, arrange the chairs and tables that have been hired, and serve food. In addition, a few women from the neighbourhood would come to help grate and grind coconut and other ingredients. Over the years, however, one change that has come about is that a number of tasks that used to be done by neighbours — such as constructing a tent — are now done by professionals. However, neighbours continue to help out at important events. This is particularly the case in Devaloor where even if neighbours do not construct the tent themselves, they will supervise the construction. The support of neighbours at these events and in moments of crisis makes people see the neighbourhood as an important place in which to live together according to relations of reciprocity.

On occasions such as a marriage or a house warming, neighbours not only help in kind but also contribute towards the expenses by gifting money. People would describe how neighbours gave money at a wedding, or a housewarming; or how they did so at gatherings organised to raise money from neighbours on behalf of a needy person. The latter has been replaced by bank loans. Thus, loans and professional services have to some extent undermined the constitution of the neighbourhood as an interdependent moral community in the Durkheimian sense. This changing context is important in our understanding the neighbourhood as a site of legitimacy.

The importance of the neighbourhood as a site of legitimacy is underlined by the aforementioned practice by which the local elder may officiate at the wedding instead of a priest. Furthermore, while it is considered important to obtain the approval of different relatives before a marriage is fixed, it is also important to obtain the approval of neighbours. The presence of the local elder, the articulation of local custom and the importance of neighbours as witnesses point to the importance of the neighbourhood as a site in which legitimacy is sought.

While neighbours are a source of legitimacy and of support they also exercise considerable social control. Meeting relevant findings in the literature (Besnier 2009, Nakassis 2010, Ong 1987), the recurrent comment, 'What will the neighbours say?' and the stories that I collected in which neighbours are mentioned as 'talking' 'gossiping', 'advising' point to the fact that in the neighbourhood social behaviour is controlled by the fear of 'comments', gossip or rumours. Neighbours have emerged as important players not only in the dynamics of social and economic support but also as a group that exerted control, a group that was the guardian of the norms and rules. The neighbourhood was, then, the site in which people exercised control, censured and upheld dominant ideas of morality.

Dispute Resolution, Political Rivalry and Competing Claims of Legitimacy

The neighbourhood as a space in which legitimacy is established or garnered changed dramatically over the twentieth century. Until the 1930s or 1940s, there were caste groupings in clusters of administrative units in which the eldest male from a large and prestigious

matrilineal joint family *tharavads* (houses or kin groups) would hear civil and criminal cases (Murkoth Kumaran quoted in Kunyappa 1975). Depending on the nature of the offence, people were fined, punished or in some cases excommunicated. In this sense, as I have mentioned, the local level was the effective unit of the caste and of caste control; the geographic size of the unit deciding the case seems to have depended on the nature of the case (Mayer 1960). It is unclear when exactly this system disappeared but several people have suggested that it dwindled in influence and then ceased as the influence grew of the secular law courts in colonial India. It has been replaced by other institutions and players, most notably government run courts.

However, in some cases there is an attempt to resolve problems at the local level. Party leaders play an important role in this. In Kerala the neighbourhood has been an important unit for political organisation and this has been strengthened by the fact that Kerala has one of the best-established systems of local government in the country. Political parties have local organising committees that play a key role in dispute settlement — most often in a way that privileges the party loyalist. How much authority these committees are able to wield depends on who is in power at the state government level and who is in power at central government level. This form of dispute resolution indicates the existence of competing claims of legitimacy and processes of legitimation at the level of the neighbourhood, which is most evident in disputes over providing land for a road. With a dramatic increase in the number of personal cars, in the last twenty years there has been an attempt to expand the number of roads and make them broad enough for a car. The local *panchayat* is petitioned to build a road or money is pooled to build a private road. In these cases, the party may be approached and local party members or loyalists may be called upon to 'persuade' someone to part with part of their land.

'Big men' in the neighbourhood units of political parties create competing circles of legitimacy.⁵ In areas dominated by one political party, members make a greater use of strongarm tactics. Writing about clashes between party cadres of opposing parties in North Kerala Ruchi Chaturvedi says:

'...[L]ocal politics ...is also about which group appears to be a major force in an area, which group has greater visibility and say in people's everyday lives, whose name is displayed during neighbourhood commemorations and festivities, who are people compelled to turn to in times of need, and who becomes their means of accessing different structures of power. In this terrain of the local, alliances are made, friendships are forged, loyalties are produced, rivalries are generated and young men from various political parties become a force trying to steer residents in the direction of one group or another' (Chaturvedi 2017).

This brings out well the way in which the workings of a political party intersect with local youth cultures and produce neighbourhoods in distinct ways (Chaturvedi 2015).

⁵ See Pardo (1996) on the working of 'big men' in a neighbourhood in Naples.

In recent months, north Kerala has been in the news for political killings across party lines — primarily between cadres of the Communist Party of India (Marxist) [CPI (M)] and of the Hindu nationalist parties RSS-BJP. Chaturvedi argues that the political culture is one driven by a majoritarian impulse — an 'impulse to become major and make minor' (2017). I would argue that revenge and a drive for masculine possession (of power, people or goods) seems to fuel this cycle of brutal violence, which is not restricted to killings between political rivals. These killings are illegitimate in the eyes of the constitution and are a violation of the right to life; in different cases, the law courts have found people on both sides of the political spectrum guilty of these murders. On the other hand, the language of martyrdom sets a parallel code of legitimacy at different levels of the political circles; that is, the local level, the state level, the national level and the international level.

The precarious nature of the neighbourhood was brought home to me during my visit to Devaloor in 2010, when I was documenting the World Cup fever there. In interviews with men in the neighbourhood library and the football club, they all spoke in veiled ways about how the football teams had gone and how young people stopped playing in the football club after the 2002 murder of a young adult who played in the neighbourhood football club. The murder is believed to have been carried out by party opponents. The football club has remained inactive for years, and for these young men the neighbourhood was not what it used to be.

Competing Circles of Legitimacy: Towards a Conclusion

At the level of the neighbourhood, legitimacy can be understood to be part of a woven fabric comprising strands of reciprocity, support and social control in everyday life. All these strands are intermeshed and form one complex picture. Furthermore, a look at legitimacy at neighbourhood level brings out not only shifts in centres of power and authority, but also competing claims of legitimacy and competing processes of legitimation. This is further made evident by the recognition that legitimacy at the local level is influenced by dynamics at different levels — local, trans-local, national and global. Moving away from the view of the state as the carrier of authority helps us to look at the dynamics of legitimacy among people in everyday life and the multiple directions in which legitimacy may flow. In contrast to Andrews' findings (2018), then legitimacy does not emerge as a zero-sum game; instead, power is conceptualised as having multiple centres depending on the context. Looking at the dynamics in the space of neighbourhoods dramatically demonstrates how there are multiple circles of legitimacy (organised by caste, associations such as Resident Welfare Associations, political affiliation or muscle and money power, including the power of the gun) that intersect and may be in conflict with each other or with the state (see, for example, Pardo 2018, Boucher 2018).

References

- Abraham, J. 2010. Space, Gender and Veiling in a Town in North India: A critique of the Public/Private Dichotomy. *Indian Journal for Gender Studies*, 17 (2): 191–222.
- Andrews, R. 2018. Reflections on Anglo-Indian Experiences of Citizenship and Legitimacy. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 60-64.
- Besnier, N. 2009. *Gossip and the Everyday Production of Politics*. University of Hawaii Press.
- Boucher, N. 2018. Legitimacy and Symbolic Politics in a Neoliberal City. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 49-54.
- Chaturvedi, R. 2015. Political Violence, Community and its Limits in Kannur, Kerala. *Contributions to Indian Sociology*, 49 (2): 162-187.
- Chaturvedi, R. 2017. Understanding the Majoritarian Violence and Politics of Kerala's Kannur. *The Wire*, <u>https://thewire.in/114586/majoritarian-violence-politics-kerala-kannur/</u> (accessed 1 August, 2017).
- Kunyappa, M. 1975. *Murkoth Kumaran: Jeeva charitram* (A Life Story), (Malayalam). Kottayam: National Book Stall.
- Massey, D. S. 1996. The Age of Extremes: Concentrated Affluence and Poverty in the Twenty-first Century. *Demography*, 33: 395-412.
- Mayer, Adrian C. 1960. *Caste and kinship in central India: A Village and its Region*. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Nakassis, C. V. 2010. Youth and Status in Tamil Nadu, India. Doctoral dissertation. University of Pennsylvania.
- Ong, A. 1987. Spirits of Resistance and Capitalist Discipline: Factory Women in Malaysia. New York: State University of New York.
- Pardo, I. 1996. *Managing Existence in Naples: Morality, Action and Structure*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Pardo, I. 2000. Introduction: Morals of Legitimacy: Interplay between Responsibility, Authority and Trust. In I. Pardo (ed.), *Morals of Legitimacy: Between Agency and System*. Oxford: Berghahn.
- Pardo, I. 2018. 'Legal', Obnoxious and Unfair: Eroded Legitimacy of Governance in Naples. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 16-22.
- Prato, G. B. and Pardo, I. 2013. 'Urban Anthropology'. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 3 (2): 80-110.
- Sampson, R. J, Morenoff, J. D. and Gannon-Rowley, T. 2002. Assessing 'Neighborhood Effects': Social Processes and New Directions in Research. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 28: 443-78.
- Sanjek, R. 1999. Afterword: I'll Take Rationale and Romance, but not Globaloney. *City & Society*, 11 (1&2): 117-24.
- Whyte, W. F. (1955 [1943]). *Street Corner Society: The Social Structure of an Italian Slum*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Issues of Legitimacy among Social Housing Residents in Soacha, Colombia

Adriana Hurtado-Tarazona (Universidad de los Andes, Bogotá, Colombia) <u>a.hurtado10@uniandes.edu.co</u>

Having carried out a three-year fieldwork among social housing residents in Soacha, a municipality in the southern outskirts of Bogotá, Colombia, I thought that discussing legitimacy might sound like a far-fetched task. How to reflect on legitimacy from a city in a country that has never experienced it? If I had told my interlocutors that I would attend a workshop to discuss 'erosions of legitimacy', they would probably have asked, Erosion of what legitimacy? What has never existed cannot be eroded.

This is the context in which my ethnographic analysis takes place. Soacha is a municipality whose government has historically been conceived as failed, in a country that is experiencing a crisis of legitimacy on a macro scale. In Colombia the consequence of the kind of systematic failure of governance that Pardo and Prato warn to be dangerous for the democratic order has already taken place; a country where the risk that 'people's distrust in those who staff the relevant institutions may extend to the institutions themselves' (Pardo and Prato 2010: 2-3) has become a reality. In Soacha, lack of trust in the local government and ordinary people's low expectations about the actions of their rulers has caused citizens to resort to private governance schemes to manage their daily lives. In terms of local law, one thinks, for example, of the Horizontal Property Regime that regulates residential condominiums. This is how Ciudad Verde emerged as a privately built and managed 'new city', where middle- and lower-middle income households live and where most are first-time homeowners.

However, the perspective offered by the concept of legitimacy allowed me to see aspects of the lives of Ciudad Verde's inhabitants in a new light. Specifically, it allowed me to identify the link between people's subjective experiences and broader processes. Ordinary people experience legitimacy by contrasting their trajectories and social practices with the available economic, political, legal and material 'matrix' of their environment. In this process, some aspects are seen to fit into the matrix and others do not. The ways in which people manage those aspects tell us about the relationship between agency and structure, between individual and society, between social reproduction and social change, and between the possibilities and constraints of exercising citizenship in urban settings that, in Colombia, are increasingly becoming the dominant way of housing the 'emerging middle classes'.

Three interlinked processes coexist in the residents of Ciudad Verde's experience of legitimacy. The first concerns the ways in which some practices that are legal — such as hanging clothes on windows — become illegitimate through the acceptance and promotion of aesthetic and behavioural restrictions marking the horizontal property regime. Here, the 'criminalization of actions that are widely regarded as legitimate' (Pardo and Prato 2010: 2) is carried out not by 'the rulers' but by residents themselves. The second process concerns illegal practices — such as pirate transportation and commercial activities inside the

apartments — that become legitimate in order to overcome structural limitations. The third process involves moral disputes among residents when there is no consensus about the legitimacy of certain practices, such as street vending. In these processes, the (thin) dividing line between legitimate and illegitimate modes of production of livelihoods (Comaroff and Comaroff 2016), and the disputes in defining this boundary, have less to do with what is legal or illegal than with an interplay between the moral aspirations and the material needs of the residents of Ciudad Verde.

Graeber (2015) argues from a feminist and race theories perspective that those at the bottom of any unequal social arrangement — in terms of gender, race, or class — must do most of the interpretive work to understand the social dynamics of the context in which they live. They invest much time imagining the perspective of those who are 'on the top' and empathizing with it, which is not mirrored from 'the top'. In this 'lopsided structures of imagination [...] the powerless not only end up doing most of the actual, physical labour required to keep society running, they also do most of the interpretive labour as well' (Graeber 2015: 80). This is clear in my ethnography, where the hyper-regulated environment that residents embrace and reinforce restricts their possibilities of sociality and citizenship. Thus, residents who come from popular neighbourhoods must invest much of their material and symbolic resources to understand the vision of a middle-class citizen and to interact with their material environment and with their neighbours and the institutions in the same way they imagine a middle-class citizen would do. So, ordinary people deal with the failures of the municipality and the unfulfilled promises of real estate developers by filling the gaps of legitimacy with their own material and symbolic resources, without challenging governance. They are doing a great share of material and interpretive work in their efforts to 'manage existence' (Pardo 1995).

This leads us to highlight some theoretical and methodological aspects about how an ethnographic analysis in an urban context can contribute to the study of legitimacy, and beyond that to our understanding of how broad processes are linked to the life of ordinary people. Pardo states that power is lost because the dominant élite 'fail to link to the broader society' (Pardo 2000: 22). Therefore, 'a key task of governance is to establish and nurture the connection with citizens' values, needs and expectations, the strength of which depends upon the observable quality of the link between political responsibility and trust and authority in the exercise of power' (Pardo and Prato 2010: 1). In this light, a crisis of legitimacy could be seen as an issue of unequal distribution of interpretive work. If the problem is that rulers lose connection with the citizens, that they are unable or unwilling to understand the worldviews of ordinary people, ethnographic knowledge has an important role to play because it can help to bring out the way in which ordinary people imagine and face the structural conditions they live in; it can help us to understand their motivations and expectations; it can help to clarify whether, and to what extent, the latter are met with specific reference to the question, who delivers what and to whom?

In my specific case, people 'from the top' — local government officials and employees of the construction companies — take for granted that the problems of coexistence in the

residential compounds are due to people not knowing the rules or being unwilling to follow them. On the contrary, from the bottom up we see that knowing and enforcing the rules is the main way for people to ascend socially and to exercise citizenship from their social and spatial position. Residents are indeed keen on rule-enforcing and mutual and self-regulation. In practice, however, sometimes reality makes it difficult to follow the rules. Structural deficiencies, caused precisely by governments' failure to deliver to the citizens, force the latter to turn away from the normative regime, reminding us that 'people may choose to operate regardless of if their actions are strictly legal; what is not legal may, thus, acquire an aura of moral justification and become accepted as legitimate' (Pardo and Prato 2010: 2). This translates into confrontations between people who at all costs want the image of the 'good citizen' dictated from above to prevail and those who act by other moral principles to get ahead. In this context, the challenge for urban governance does not lie in promoting citizens' rule-compliance but in creating new possibilities of urban citizenship that provide solutions to the residents' material and moral needs and address the limitations that ordinary people face in their daily lives.

Another aspect that emerged from the analysis of my empirical material in the light of the theoretical discussions on legitimacy is ordinary people's efforts to reconcile the different deficits of legitimacy at different levels. In my work, as in that of other participants in the workshop (Abraham 2018a and 2018b; Koechlin 2018a and 2018b), the neighbourhood exerts agency either in terms of social control or as a place that offers new possibilities of citizenship to those who are marginalised. In the neighbourhood of Ciudad Verde, people clearly process their (ambiguous) relations with the law by generating normative frameworks that, on the one hand, exceed what is legal and, on the other, tolerate practices that are not legal but are necessary to cope with daily life. Here, the neighbourhood is the sphere where legitimacy arrangements at various levels take place which generate opportunities and constraints for social life and citizenship. Through neighbourly relations and emerging moralities, residents engage with legitimacy and try to secure the upward mobility promised by the 'dream of homeownership', conditional to the enforcement of strict aesthetic and behavioural regulations that involve limitations on one's own freedom and socialization. At the same time, they try to overcome contextual limitations — the crisis of metropolitan governance, sociospatial segregation and accessibility problems, unemployment and limitations in the design of the megaproject — by legitimizing some illegal practices. Symbolically, local residents endeavour for Ciudad Verde to become a middle-class neighbourhood despite its peripheral location in a segregated urban area. Materially, they connect with Bogotá through public and 'pirate' transportation and secure their livelihoods through formal jobs and informal home businesses and street stalls.

Reflecting on my ethnography from the perspective of legitimacy made me realise that the dynamics of legitimacy among the inhabitants of Ciudad Verde respond to the failure of rulers, but also to the prevailing local notions of social mobility and middle-class citizenship. Thus, by analysing how ordinary people engage with gaps in legitimacy at different levels of governance in their daily lives and by tracing the emergent moralities that result from this engagement we can gain a better understanding of contemporary configurations of citizenship and social life. As stated by Comaroff and Comaroff 'ours, after all, is an epoch –if not the first, then certainly the latest– in which law-making, law-breaking, and law-enforcement are especially critical registers in which societies construct, contest and confront truths about themselves' (Comaroff and Comaroff 2016: xii).

References

- Abraham, J. 2018a. Exploring the Contours of Legitimacy in Neighbourhoods in North Kerala, India. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 32-37.
- Abraham, J. 2018b. *Changing Ideas of Legitimacy in Neighbourhoods: Reflections from a Town in Kerala.* In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Comaroff, J. and Comaroff, J. L. 2016. *The Truth about Crime: Sovereignty, Knowledge, Social Order*. Chicago and London: University of Chicago Press.
- Graeber, D. 2015. The Utopia of Rules: On Technology, Stupidity, and the Secret Joys of Bureaucracy. New York: Melville House.
- Koechlin, L. 2018a. Claims and Practices of Legitimacy in Urban East Africa. Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography, 8 (suppl. 1): 55-59.
- Koechlin, L. 2018b. *In or Out? Claims and Practices of Legitimacy in Urban East Africa*. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Pardo, I. 1995. Morals of legitimacy in Naples: Streetwise about legality, semi-legality and crime. *European Journal of Sociology*, 36 (1): 44–71.
- Pardo, I. 2000. Introduction—Morals of Legitimacy: Interplay between Responsibility, Authority and Trust. In I. Pardo (ed.), *Morals of Legitimacy: Between Agency and System*. Oxford: Berghahn.
- Pardo, I. and Prato, G. B. 2010. Introduction: Disconnected Governance and the Crisis of Legitimacy. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds). *Citizenship and the Legitimacy of Governance : Anthropology in the Mediterranean Region*. Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Pardo, I. and Prato, G. B. eds. 2018. *Legitimacy: Ethnographic and Theoretical Insights*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. Forthcoming.

Undermining Governmental Legitimacy: Failed Expectations of Community Accountability

and

Jerome Krase	
(Brooklyn College, CUNY)	
JKrase@brooklyn.cuny.edu	

Kathryn Krase (Long Island University, Brooklyn) <u>Kathryn.Krase@liu.edu</u>

Introduction

The rise of right and left-wing populism both in the United States and globally seems to have taken many political analysts both in and out of academe by surprise. One of the major reasons for this lack of vision is due to what might be called 'ivory tower myopia,' or the lack of attention to what takes place at the ground level. Historically, populism has risen in electoral democracies when the people's expectations of accountability to them and attention to their needs are unmet. It is not an individual phenomenon dependent on a charismatic leader, but a collective one based on social conditions. Theoretically and historically-informed ethnography makes it possible to observe how governmental legitimacy is undermined at the grassroots level. We, the authors, have been community activists, and at times vision is due to what might be called 'ivory tower myopia', or the lack of attention to what takes place at the ground level, deeply engaged in New York City partisan politics, which provided us with access to local decision-making processes. In this regard, Jerome Krase discussed how notions of the 'ideal' community serves as a practical guide for local organizations to best present themselves, their goals, and needs to authorities, and how authorities claim legitimacy by demonstrating responsiveness to community demands (Krase 1977, 1979). New York City's Community Planning Districts use the same community paradigm to present themselves as being responsible to the public. Theoretically, for this legitimacy they rely on what Max Weber termed 'Legal-Rational Authority' (1978: 215). Paradoxically, that legitimacy, bestowed by the public, actually rests on what Weber called 'Traditional Rationality' (Weber 1978).

For Italo Pardo and Giuliana B. Prato, 'A key task of governance is to establish and nurture the connection with citizens' values, needs and expectations, the strength of which depends upon the observable quality of the link between political responsibility and trust and authority in the exercise of power' (2010: 1). Therefore, what citizens expect from government is a key variable. The 1960s was a turbulent decade for American cities. New York was no exception as it was punctuated by mass anti-government demonstrations and several riots in alienated African-American neighbourhoods. Concomitantly, citizen demands for increased accountability and even community control of city services such as education and development increased. In 1969, during the mayoralty of John V. Lindsay, the New York City Planning Commission decentralized some governmental authority. As noted by the Commission's Chair, Donald H. Elliot (1966-73), 'Mayor Lindsay was very interested in having a community participation component as part of the development process. Following the Robert Moses era that mostly ignored public opinion, Lindsay wanted local communities to have an impact on government decisions.' (Center for New York City Law, 2017) The city

was divided into 62 (currently 59) Community Districts, each with its own Community Board. Each Board consists of up to 50 unsalaried members appointed by the Borough President, with half nominated by the City Council members who are elected to represent residents in that district. Board members must reside, work in, or have some other significant interest in the community.

Jerome Krase and Charles La Cerra explained that, although seemingly progressive on the surface, Lindsay, at first a Republican Party reformer, employed the decentralization rubric to get around the almost total control of the city by Democratic Party bosses. In addition, community associations in poverty areas provided residents with alternative methods for local problem-solving. In more middle-class neighbourhoods, educated and sophisticated voters used them to pressure political clubs to become more democratic. The Community Boards also created opportunities for political entrepreneurs by fostering competition for limited resources. Individuals, groups, and local social service providers became constituency seeking 'favours.' The 'Great Society', 'Community Action', 'Model Cities', and other Federal programs were also ripe with patronage and provided new jobs and spoils for urban political machines to distribute. Consequently, nominally independent local agencies quickly came under the control of local bosses (Krase and LaCerra 1992, also Krase 1997). Even groups elected by the community, such as Community School Boards, slowly gravitated toward the usual politics as teachers' unions and suppliers saw the need to control Board decisions and joined with regular political clubs to elect sympathetic elect board members. City newspapers often exposed the corruption created by these new opportunities. Despite these scandals, the ideal of accountability to the local community maintained its ideological appeal. By the turn of the 21th century much of the power decentralized in the 1970s was re-centralized and Community Districts lost much of their potency.

What follows is a comparison between reactions of local residents to controversial decisions in two Brooklyn Community Districts that, although they concern very different constituencies, share the same problem of establishing and maintaining their legitimacy. In both cases, actions by the respective Community Boards raised doubts as to whether the concerns and indeed the welfare of many local residents were given sufficient weight in the decision-making process.

· •	typrofiles.planning.nyc. mmunity District 6	Community District 9
	•	5
Total Population	104,709	98,400
White Non-Hispanics	63.8%,	18.4%
Black (Non-Hispanic)	6.9%	67.6%
Hispanic	18.6%	9.7%
Foreign Born	17.5%	41.8%
Unemployment	6.5%	13.4%
NYC Poverty Measure	9.0%	23.1%
Education (Bachelor Degree or high	her) 70%	26.7%

Community Board 9 - Rezoning (by Jerome Krase)

I have been an activist-scholar in Community District 9 since the 1960s, and I continue to serve on one the District's committees. The current fight against upscale residential development was spurred by a city-wide re-zoning plan devised during the Mayoral administration of Michael Bloomberg. In predominantly non-white areas like Crown Heights and Bedford-Stuyvesant, it has a distinctly racial tone as described by Shannyce Lashley, a reporter who covered a public meeting, 'Bed-Stuy in Crisis', at which I spoke.

"New York City has a housing policy, it's very simple, black people live where white people don't wanna live until white people decide to live there again," said a resident of Bed-Stuy at the forum. "That policy is racist. Is it class based? Yes, but it's racist, and the battle for Bed-Stuy is going to be fought in the streets."" (Lashley 2014)

Although much of the battle continues to be face-to-face, increasingly today it takes place in, and through, various forms of mass and electronic media such as web blogs, list servers, websites, e-mail, Twitter, and platforms such as *Facebook*. The movement that garnered the greatest amount of attention in Brooklyn as a whole was 'Develop, Don't Destroy Brooklyn' which unsuccessfully fought against development at the Atlantic Yards and the Barclay's Center (http://www.dddb.net/php/latestnews_ArchiveDate.php). In Crown Heights, the organization that has the highest, somewhat controversial, profile is MTOPP — The Movement to Protect the People (http://www.mtopp.org/). Its fiery leader is Alicia Boyd, a middle-class African American home owner, whose goal was preventing approval by CD 9 of the City-wide rezoning program. MTOPP's mission statement declares: 'We must organize! We must meet with our representatives! Stage demonstrations! Call in our favors! File lawsuits! Expose the back room deals that are taking away our rights! We must use every resource at our disposal, to let these developers know that... Our Community is not for sale!!!' (http://www.mtopp.org/mission.html). MTOPP also engaged activist urban planner Tom Angotti to devise a grass roots plan to counter the City's rezoning plan. (Angotti 2015)

Alicia Boyd and other MTOPP activists vehemently complained about the unethical and perhaps illegal conduct of Community Board 9. Freedom of Information Law (FOIL) requests were filed and board members have also been accused of conflicts of interest. She and other activists were arrested at protests. In anticipation of disruption, in the autumn of 2014 the October meeting date and venue was changed. More police were added to deal with anticipated disruptions from MTOPP and others. At this meeting, which I attended, a motion for adjournment was made by a board member in the audience, approved by board members, and the meeting ended quickly before the public comment period on the agenda. This caused a loud protest from MTOPP members (wearing MTOPP t-shirts) standing at the back of the auditorium who had been handing out literature to attendees, and who were prepared to speak at the public comments period that was on the agenda.

In addition to being a prolific blogger whose site attracts a great deal of comment, Tim Thomas chaired the Transportation Committee of Community Board 9. His support of proposals to develop affordable housing in Crown Heights and Prospect Lefferts Gardens drew the wrath of the MTOPP. However, even those in favour of development were wary of the government plan. In reference to the plan, his blog, 'The Q at Parkside' circulated a petition that stated in part:

We, the undersigned, implore Community Board 9 and the NYC Department of City Planning to immediately begin a Planning Study of Community District 9, specifically the western portion of CB9's boundaries. The current zoning map dates to 1961. While other parts of NYC have been contextually zoned and updated to reflect a modern reality, we continue to live with decisions that were made for our neighborhood more than 50 years ago...We would prefer to undergo this process collaboratively, rather than have outside forces develop our neighborhood FOR us. We've seen the future — in certain buildings, like 626 Flatbush and another 23-story tower on Nostrand to our south, plus dozens of new 'as of right' projects throughout Central Brooklyn. We'd like to temper the urge of developers to build without an understanding of the consequences to our historic and tight-knit community. (Please Sign Petition For Zoning Study To Begin).¹

Other disputes among competing activists and neighbourhood spokespersons have revolved around the real and imagined racial biases of protagonists and antagonists on various local issues. For example, MTOPP has been accused by some of making racially divisive comments about pro-development advocates. However, the less radical, Prospect Park East Network (PPEN) also sees these and related future projects as reducing the ethnic and class diversity of the area, as well as causing divisions in the community (http://www.ppen.org/).

Community Board 6 — Controversial Bike Lanes (by Kathryn Krase)

In contrast to the residential rezoning of portions of Crown Heights, which threatened the affordability of housing for thousands of poor and working-class Non-white renters, the construction of bike lanes in an affluent neighbourhood might seem to lack gravitas, but for many residents such as myself, it was both an affront to aesthetic sensibilities and a demonstration of insensitivity to our real concerns about safety and convenience. The bike lane would destroy the streetscape of the historically landmarked thoroughfare. Parking spaces were lost, bikers flaunted traffic laws, and according to Seniors for Safety, created unsafe conditions especially for less agile elderly pedestrians. When the protected bike lanes were originally proposed for Prospect Park West in 2010, I honestly thought it was a joke. Why would any policymaker think it was a good idea to take away a lane of traffic on a busy roadway integral to inter-neighbourhood travel in Brooklyn? Prior to presenting the plan for the bike lanes there was significant community engagement in efforts to address 'traffic calming' there. Ironically, calming was needed because of the increased traffic created by earlier 'pro-bike, anti-car' decisions.

¹ See <u>http://theqatparkside.blogspot.com/2015/01/please-sign-petition-for-zoning- study.html</u>

Community Board 6 conducted a survey, allegedly to ascertain support for the measures. To anti-bike lane groups, however, it was more of a fabrication. For example, the initial survey did not ask respondents, many of whom were canvassed along the route, for approval of what became an extensive and costly construction of bicycle lanes. The unfortunate, but timely, death of a child on the street gave the greatest impetus for the plan's approval, which claimed to be the honest result of wide consultation with 'the community'. After the lanes were finished, another pseudo-social scientific survey was conducted to demonstrate further community support for the plan after it was challenged in court by 'Neighbors for Better Bike Lanes and Seniors for Safety'. In the court papers, the group claimed that the proponents of the bike lane project misrepresented their studies as well as the project itself. Ironically, the announcement of the survey results included cautions that the survey was not very 'scientific'. The New York Times coverage of the survey noted: 'Polling experts caution, however, that online surveys, like any surveys in which the respondents are self-selected rather than contacted at random, are of limited value' (Goodman 2010). The survey was conducted using a relatively unsophisticated internet platform Survey Monkey, and on the report website itself was the Caveat: 'Not intended as a referendum or a randomlysampled public opinion poll.' Despite these particular advisements, this and the other surveys were widely used in the sympathetic press and by proponents of the project, as evidence of broad community support for their view.

Observations made by several informants of community meetings at which pro and antibike lane speakers made their cases before Community Board 6 meetings and the Park Slope Civic Council revealed a similar pattern. In all cases, it appeared that the pro-bike lane supporters were in the majority. Speakers for each side were loudly, but not raucously, applauded by their supports. As to civility, however, one anti-bike lane informant reported that after being quoted in a newspaper story, online comments were 'incredibly abusive'. As a result, the informant has 'not Googled my name from then onwards because it was too upsetting'. As many others, this informant was not against a bike lane *per se* but was disturbed by how residents who expressed contrary opinions were being steamrolled by the city-wide pro-bike lane group Transportation Alternatives and their allies on Community Board 6, the Civic Council, and in Councilman Brad Lander's office. Those 'who didn't agree with them or had valid points in opposition were vindictively labelled as rich and old. And the DOT and Jeannette Sadik Khan lied throughout'.

Long after the dust had settled, Bloomberg era Transportation Commissioner, Janette Sadik-Kahn (2007-2013) and Seth Solomonow penned *Streetfight: Handbook for an Urban Revolution* in which she wrote: 'the strife over Prospect Park West represented a perverse version of the historical battles between Jane Jacobs and Robert Moses.' (2017: 8), and repeated widely shared comments in the media about her opponents such as Iris Weinshall '... who lived in a *well-appointed* (my emphasis) high-rise along Prospect Park West with her husband, *influential* (my emphasis) United States Senator Charles Schumer' (168). More critical for our thesis, she mistakenly claimed 'the truth is that the community has been asking for traffic calming on Prospect Park West, including a protected bike path, for at least four

years' (171). In contrast, praise and thanks were given to Transportation Alternatives members '... who pulled together spoke out at community meetings, drafted op-eds and letters to the editor, and always made themselves available' (177). Incidentally, a prominent Transportation Alternatives member was Co-Chair of the Community Board 6 Transportation Committee.

Discussion and Notes on Methods

Obviously, the tactics for the more privileged opposition groups in Park Slope such as Neighbors for Better Bike Lanes and Seniors for Safety are different from MTOPP in Crown Heights. Due to their higher status, they used quieter, more legalistic methods, and relied on the unrequited respect of their higher social status by elected officials and employees of city agencies who claimed to represent them. But the outcomes, despite the fact that both groups were eventually vindicated as to their claims, were the same as to the government's loss of legitimacy in their eyes. A crucial issue is how the city government, via its local arms, such as Community Planning Districts, presented themselves as being accountable to the public, and how they can lose their legitimacy by failing in their, sometimes cynical, efforts.

To accomplish this complex task, we employed a number of ethnographic methods and techniques. In addition to the usual ethnographic methods such as direct observation, participant observation, interviews, informants, we employed various more and less digital (Pink et al. 2015) and virtual (Dominguez et al. 2007) methods to explore on-line discussions, websites, and on-line newspapers. Both researchers also engaged in analytic auto-ethnography (Ellis et al. 2011) as a way to explore personally the issues and processes from the inside out. Finally, comparative or multi-sited ethnographic (Marcus 1995) sensibilities made it possible to isolate commonalities between very different neighbourhoods and issues.

References

- Angotti, T. 2015. De Blasio's Housing Plan Is All About the Money. *The Indypendent*. 9 April Issue 205 <u>https://indypendent.org/2015/04/09/de-blasios-housing-plan-all-about-money</u> (accessed 5 December 2015).
- Center for New York City Law. 2017. Former CPC Chair Discussed 1969 Plan for New York City. <u>http://www.citylandnyc.org/former-cpc-chair-discussed-1969-plan-for-new-york-city/</u> (accessed 15 May 2017)
- Dominguez, D., Baeulieu, A., Estalella, A., Schnettler, B and Read, R. 2007. Virtual Ethnography. *Forum Qualitative Social Research-Sozialforschung*, 8 (3). <u>http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/274/602</u> (accessed 1 April 2015).
- Ellis, C., Adams, T. E. and Bochner, A. P. 2011. Autoethnography: An Overview. Forum Qualitative Social Research-Sozialforschung, 12 (1) Art. 10. <u>http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs/article/view/1589/3095</u> (accessed 1 June 2015).

- Goodman, D. 2010. Survey Finds Support, but a Bike-Lane Debate Continues. *New York Times* <u>https://cityroom.blogs.nytimes.com/2010/12/07/survey-finds-support-but-a-bike-lane-debate-continues/</u> (accessed 1 January 2018).
- Krase, J. 1977. Toward a Phenomenological View of Community Organization. Paper presented at the Eastern Sociological Society Annual Meeting. Philadelphia. April.
- Krase, J. 1979. Community in the Inner City as a Moral Problem. *Humanity and Society*, 3 (1): 35-52.
- Krase, J. and La Cerra, C. 1992. *Ethnicity and Machine Politics*. Washington, DC: University Press of America.
- Krase, J. 1997. Narrative of a Reformed Community Organizer. *Another Side: Journal of the Michael Harrington Center for Democratic Values and Social Change*. 5 (1): 17-21.
- Lashley, S. 2014. Bed-Stuy in Crisis. *The Kingsman* <u>http://thekingsmanpaper.com/2014/11/bed-stuy-in-crisis/</u> (accessed 9 January 2015).
- Marcus, G. 1995. Ethnography in/of the world system: The emergence of multi-sited ethnography. *Annual Review of Anthropology*, 24 (1): 95-117.
- Pardo, I. and Prato, G. B. 2010. Introduction: Disconnected Governance and the Crisis of Legitimacy. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds.), *Citizenship and the Legitimacy of Governance: Anthropology in the Mediterranean Region*. Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Pink, S, Hors, H., Postill, J., Hjorth, L., Lewis, T. and Tacchi, J. 2015. *Digital Ethnography: Principles and Practice*. Los Angeles: Sage.
- Sadik-Kahn, J. and Solomonow, S. 2017. *Streetfight: Handbook for an Urban Revolution*. New York: Penguin Books.
- Weber, M. 1978 [1922]. *Economy and Society: An Outline of Interpretive Sociology*. Berkeley CA: University of California Press.

Legitimacy and Symbolic Politics in a Neoliberal City

Nathalie Boucher (Organisme R.Es.P.I.R.E, Montreal, Canada) <u>nb@organismerespire.com</u>

A task of governance is to 'establish and nurture the connection with citizens' values, needs and expectations' (Pardo and Prato 2010: 1). One way this connection demonstrates itself is through direct communication. This includes the structures and means required by communication, such as staff, bureaucratic support, coherent governance, money and data analytics. Meyer (1999) rightfully addresses this dimension of legitimacy processes at the European Union level and explains how the structures and means of communication are obstructed or not fully functional. As a counter example, Bimber (2014) demonstrates how the mastering of digital media in the Obama campaigns of 2008 and 2012 was innovative and partly secured his (re)elections.

Birdwhistell (Lohisse 2001) defines communication not as the content per se, but as a system, as the structure that allows the communication to take place. From a political economy perspective, communication, when in the hand of people in power, refers to the 'capacity to influence people's mind' through the mass media (Castells 2007: 240). More broadly, this is known as symbolic politics, which defines a strategic use of signs and symbols for political purposes (Donsbach 2008). Symbolic politics suppose the control of symbolic dynamics, ideological beliefs, normative values and codes which are part of the cultural realm where the communication processes occur (Lohisse 2001, Sears et al. 1980).

This short discussion explores the ramifications of legitimacy into symbolic communication in a neoliberal urban structure, by relying on selected indicators of neoliberalism, urban entrepreneurialism and communication. The matter deserves a full-length analysis, and a crossing with its relation to different moral communities (Pardo 2000) despite difficulties such as those experimented on similar urban issues (for instance, Colombo 2016).

In a forthcoming book edited by Pardo and Prato (2018), I explore the demolition of Square Viger by the City of Montreal. My discussion focuses on an informal group of public figures engaged in heritage, public art and urban redevelopment that I joined in 2013 and that lobbied in favour of saving the Square (Boucher 2018, forthcoming). Here, I attempt to describe how delicate it was to advocate for the Square without losing our legitimacy (individually and as a group), because municipal authorities and the general public have complained about the Square since its redesign in the 1970s (Doyon 2013). The admitted reason? The then-innovative design that replaced the Victorian-style park includes a predominance of concrete, great isolation from the street, walls and covered walkways which do not allow for a peripheral view (Fiset 2011). Another reason, politically incorrect, is that the new version came to life in one of the worst demographic periods in the borough; the number of residents in the vicinity declined and some groups of homeless found a home in the Square. Homelessness has a negative connotation in the urban landscape, and it creates a

great deal of discomfort amongst citizens (Boucher 2017, Classen 1993, Whyte 1988). By letting homeless people make the Square their home, the City nourished the idea that it was illegitimate; the symbolic aspects of homelessness (danger, unhealthy, instability) were transferred to the Square by the inaction of the City to support a positive image and the legitimacy of the Square.

In this dossier, the City discredited the Square by not fully implementing the plans proposed by the artist who designed it, by doing nothing to improve its state and reputation since the redesign. The disinvestment in public infrastructure and services is a well-known collateral effect of the neoliberalisation of the economy. In Canada, this is dated in the mid-1990s when the main fiscal priority became the deficit reduction rather than social safety (Stern and Hall 2015). One of the reasons why the deficit reduction has become a legitimate financial measure is the development of an analogy with household debts — an analogy that sparked (unlikely) comparisons between a responsible government and a strong father figure (the Bonus Pater Familias of the Roman Law and the 'Reasonable Man' in the Common Law) (Shaviro 1997, Zhou 2001). One famous illustration of this is the shoe polish brought by the finance minister of the province of Québec to the press conference announcing the 2017 budget. Building on the analogy that there is no need to buy a new pair of shoes if you can refurbish the one that is already paid for, he claimed forcefully that a responsible dad, like his government, does not spend family money before clearing the debts (Croteau 2017). With such strong images, which call to the North American values of noble sacrifice and hard work, the neoliberal strategy of deficit reduction over public services was well received by most people and thus made legitimate.

Meanwhile, as a reaction to the 1980s crash and economic erosion, cities came out as major players to pull the population out of the financial slump. An entrepreneurialism regime, then seen as the best option, was adopted by most cities across the globe (Harvey 2014). Among other strategies, entrepreneurialism encourages the political economy of places rather than of territories; economic projects meant to improve the living and working conditions are limited to specific buildings or places (or sectors, like technologies) rather than to geographical and political (and social) territories (Harvey 2014). These actions are in line with neoliberalism, notably because they mainly benefit private sectors (Söderström et al. 2014). Sporadic but impressive and visual investments — for example, in large parks — are generally well received because they contribute to enhance the image of the city. The symbolism of a great, fun and innovative city is powerful. The expected influx of tourists and investors is seen as economic dynamism. Furthermore, investing in specific sectors, such as parks, is a classic strategy to display political and economic power and establish or secure legitimacy (Stark 2014) for the rulers and, consequently, for the city that they rule.

In 2010, major changes in the vicinity of Viger Square raised a renewed interest in the place: a mega hospital was constructed on three lots west of the Square and the abandoned Viger train station (on the south side) was revived with office spaces. Unsurprisingly, four years later, a \$3 million investment specifically targeted for the Square's renewal was approved, admittedly in time for the forthcoming celebrations of the 375th anniversary of

Montreal in 2017 (Normandin 2015). Although Montrealers were sceptical of the celebrations and doubted the need to celebrate a 375th anniversary, this urban surgical intervention was welcomed by most citizens.

In light of these examples, we see how communication of symbols is essential in the establishment of legitimacy — of people, places, regimes. This has to be done at the right time, by the right people, for the right cause. In the forthcoming volume, Hurtado-Tarazona (2018b, see also 2018a) illustrates well how certain practices are deemed illegitimate because they do not contribute to enhance the image of an urban Colombian housing megaproject, while other illegal activities are tolerated because of their positive impact. Another powerful example is provided by Sarfati (2018), who explains how the South Korean president was impeached due to political corruption and misconduct, but also in the wave of massive publicdissent around the sinking of the Sewõl Ferry in 2016. To impeach, to suspend, to fire or to expect the resignation of elected politicians or officials is a not-so-exceptional practice in politics and in business. But the South Korean tragedy is a poignant example of the symbolic aspect of rule. Even when no laws are broken, if there is social discontent, heads must fall. It gives relief to the people, stabilizes the stock exchange and can save political parties and administrations, which can be seen as active, empathetic and accountable.

At the same time, 'distrust of the system does not equate depoliticization' (Castells 2007: 245). Dissidence against policies and politics does not mean that governance is failing at communicating or that it is lacking legitimacy. The symbols used to exert influence may not be efficient as surrogates; or there may be a discrepancy among the moral community regarding the values of the symbols displayed; the symbols themselves can be seen as illegitimate. The aforementioned metaphor of the shoe polish made by the minister of finance was seen as risible in progressive circles, because of what it hid, not because they did not understand it (Anonym 2016). To argue the illegitimacy of symbols in political communication is to understand their meaning but disagree on how they are used.

The idea of the redesign of Viger Square was not well received by the group I worked with, which was formed by irreducible professionals in the fields of visual arts, heritage and urban planning. The group's argument focused on the importance of this unique modern artwork and on the view that it was hypocritical to blame the design to explain the lack of desirable users of the Square. Within the scope of our respective fields (with their very own languages, norms and codes), we used all the means available and relevant to make our claim known to municipal authorities, who had their own agenda and people who worked on building their legitimacy. The context of Montreal is far from other cities, such as Naples, where democracy is strongly put to the test (Pardo 2018b, 2018a). By lobbying within the limits of the law, we acknowledged the rules that bound us to them (and them to us); therefore, we recognized their legitimacy.

From the Viger Square experience, the governing body, the group of irreducible professionals against the redesign and Montrealers, appear as different communities in the same moral and cultural landscape who came together at a specific time. A strong hold on symbolism is important for rulers to deal with the complexity of various communities in their

society. In spite of being adopted by some and challenged by others, symbols are understood by all. This is how communication binds us all in the same mega-culture (Ipsen 2005, Park 1938) and enables legitimacy to take place or to be challenged.

References

- Anonym. 2016. Le retour néolibéral du bon père de famille. *L'autjournal*, <u>http://lautjournal.info/articles-mensuels/348/le-retour-neoliberal-du-bon-pere-de-famille</u>. Accessed 14 February 2018.
- Bimber, B. 2014. Digital Media in the Obama Campaigns of 2008 and 2012: Adaptation to the Personalized Political Communication Environment. *Journal of Information Technology & Politics*, 11 (2): 130-50.
- Boucher, N. 2017. The senses of the interactional self in the uses of Los Angeles urban public spaces. In K. E. Y. Low and D. Kalekin-Fishman (eds), *Senses in Cities; Experiences of Urban Settings*. London: Routledge.
- Boucher, N. 2018. Detachment and commitment to legitimacy: The case of Viger Square in Montreal. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Castells, M. 2007. Communication, power and counter-power in the network society. *International Journal of Communication*, 1: 238-66.
- Classen, C. 1993. Worlds of sense: Exploring the senses in history and across cultures. London: Routledge.
- Colombo, R. 2016. Processes of globalization in Madrid: Indicators and analysers for a contemporary metropolis. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 6 (1): 90-105.
- Croteau, M. 2017. Budget: Leitão laisse entrevoir plus de dépenses et une baisse du fardeau fiscal. *LaPresse*, 27 mars 2017.

http://www.lapresse.ca/affaires/economie/quebec/201703/27/01-5082773-budgetleitao-laisse-entrevoir-plus-de-depenses-et-une-baisse-du-fardeau-fiscal.php.

- Accessed 14 February 2018.Donsbach, W. 2008. Symbolic politics. *The International Encyclopedia of Communication*.London: Blackwell Reference online.
- Doyon, F. 2013. Décryptage Le square Viger, le mal-aimé de l'art public. *Le Devoir*, 26 août 2013.

http://www.ledevoir.com/culture/arts-visuels/385964/le-square-viger-le-mal-aime-del-art-public. Accessed 26 August 2013.

- Fiset, D. 2011. Le réaménagement du square Viger et l'Agora de Charles Daudelin: vers la restauration d'un espace public contesté. *L'Argot*, Spring 2011.
- Harvey, D. 2014. Vers la ville entreprenneuriale. Mutation du capitalisme et transformations de la gouvernance urbaine. In C. Gintrac and M. Giroud (eds), *Villes contestées; pour une génographie critique de l'urbain*. Paris : Les Prairies ordinaires.

- Hurtado-Tarazona, A. 2018a. Issues of Legitimacy among Social Housing Residents in Soacha, Colombia. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 38-41.
- Hurtado-Tarazona, A. 2018b. Privatization of Urban Governance and the Disputes for Legitimacy in a Social Housing Megaproject in Soacha, Colombia. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Ipsen, D. 2005. The Socio-spatial conditions of the open city: A theoretical sketch. *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, 29 (3): 644-53.
- Normandin, P.-A. 2015. Montréal va démolir l'agora du square Viger. *LaPresse*, 5 juin 2015. <u>http://www.lapresse.ca/actualites/grand-montreal/201506/05/01-4875580-montreal-va-demolir-lagora-du-square-viger.php</u>. Accessed 14 February 2018.
- Lohisse, J. 2001. La communication ; de la transmission à la relation. Belgique: DeBoeck Université.
- Meyer, C. 1999. Political Legitimacy and the Invisibility of Politics: Exploring the European Union's Communication Deficit. *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 37 (4): 617-39.
- Pardo, I. 2000. Introduction—Morals of Legitimacy: Interplay between Responsibility, Authority and Trust. In I. Pardo (ed.), *Morals of Legitimacy: Between Agency and System*. New York: Berghahn.
- Pardo, I. 2018a. 'Legal', Obnoxious and Unfair: Eroded Legitimacy of Governance in Naples. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 16-22.
- Pardo, I. 2018. A conundrum of democracy: Naples as a test case of governance that lacks legitimacy. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Pardo, I. and Prato, G. B. 2010. Introduction: Disconnected governance and the crisis of legitimacy. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds), *Citizenship and the Legitimacy of Governance: Anthropology in the Mediterranean Region*. Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Pardo, I. and Prato, G. B. eds. 2018. *Legitimacy: Ethnographic and Theoretical Insights*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. Forthcoming.
- Park, R. E. 1938. Reflections on communication and culture. *The American Journal of Sociology*, 44 (2): 187-205.
- Sarfati, L. 2018. Mourning through protest in Seoul: debates over governance, morality and legitimacy after the Sewŏl ferry disaster. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Sears, D. O., Lau, R. R., Tyler, T. R. and Allen, H. M. 1980. Self-interest vs. symbolic politics in policy attitudes and presidential voting. *The American Political Science Review*, 74 (3): 670-84.
- Shaviro, D. 1997. Do deficits matter? Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Söderström, O., Paasche, T. and Klauser, F. 2014. Smart cities as corporate storytelling. *City*, 18 (3): 307-20.
- Stark, B. L. 2014. Urban gardens and parks in pre-modern states and empires. *Cambridge Archaeological Journal*, 24 (1): 87-115.

Stern, P. and Hall, P. V. 2015. *Proposal economy; neoliberal citizenship in 'Ontario's most historic town'*. Vancouver: UBC Press.

Whyte, W. H. 1988. City: Rediscovering the Center. Garden City: Doubleday.

Zhou, H.-R. 2001. Le test de la personne raisonnable en responsabilité civile. *Revue du Barreau*, 61: 451-519.

Claims and Practices of Legitimacy in Urban East Africa

Lucy Koechlin (University of Basel, Switzerland) lucy.koechlin@unibas.ch

African cities are transforming rapidly, with high rates of urbanisation changing urban compositions, new infrastructure facilitating domestic and regional mobility, and global networks opening up communicative and financial flows (UN Habitat 2014). This is certainly the case for Kenya; not only for the capital city, Nairobi, but also for mid-sized cities such as Nakuru, Eldoret or Kisumu. The changes affecting Kenyan cities are compounded by the constitutional reform of 2010, which introduced far-reaching devolution, granting provinces and municipalities new powers and authority. Up to the new constitution, Kenya was a highly centralised state, with both formal and patrimonial powers concentrated in Nairobi. Many of the constitutional reforms are still in the process of being negotiated, with uneven knowledge and consensus on the details of implementation on a provincial and local level (Cheeseman et al. 2016, Chitere and Ngundo 2017). This juddering process is not surprising, given the fundamental shift in political culture that underpins it. In addition, the complexity of translating constitutional provisions into institutional, procedural and legal reality on a provincial and by-law level is daunting. Arguably, there is not only an institutional disjunction, but also a normative and cultural one — a disjunction, however, that simultaneously opens up new spaces of political claim-making and practices of legitimacy.

A decade ago Kisumu was mainly a town of informal settlements and slums, busy jumbles of corrugated iron, small stalls, and people; and, on the other side of the spectrum, a few middle-to upper class neighbourhoods, with leafy streets laid out in an orderly fashion, semi-detached or detached houses nestling in well-tended gardens, and hardly a person in sight. But today it is a rapidly growing city of lower- to middle-class estates with modern apartment buildings that are changing not only the face, but also the social body of Kisumu, for the material transformations are demarcating changing social, economic and political relations. In particular, the Kenyan constitutional reform of 2013 has opened up dramatically new relations between central government and the newly devolved authorities, with farreaching fiscal, legal and administrative powers shifted to the county and municipal level. Not surprisingly, given the fundamental change in political culture and the huge complexity of adjusting the legal, institutional and administrative realities, this process of devolution is far from complete.

But whereas devolution may be the most obvious force re-structuring relations between social actors, it is but one dimension of the re-articulation of practices and discourses of urban citizens. As will be argued in this paper, the transformations in the urbanity of Kisumu are subtler than the large-scale structural changes; a more fine-grained, ethnographic approach reveals the nuanced transformations of political spaces, and the articulation of specific forms of urbanity. It is these less obvious processes which may allow for a more insightful understanding into the emergence of a specifically urban citizenship; processes that are methodologically more accessible in the less overwhelming sensory context of a mid-sized, secondary city such as Kisumu (Koechlin and Förster 2018).

A recent survey shows that urban dwellers in Kisumu were very clear in what they hoped and expected from their county government; namely the provision of electricity, better infrastructure and services, the creation of employment, and improved education (Chitere and Ngundo 2017: 142). For Kisumu, this is particularly salient, as it is the centre of a province that has been the seat of the ethnic and political opposition since independence, with the ensuing 'calculated violence of neglect' (Chabal 2009: 153) by successive governmental regimes leaving deep emotional and developmental scars. It is no surprise that the Luo, the ethnic group linked to this region, were outstandingly in favour of devolution, unlike the Kikuyu, the ethnic group close to the ruling coalition.¹ The survey quotes a citizen of Kisumu in this very sense: 'Initially [this province] was an opposition zone and most development activities never reached here. Now things are devolved and we are seeing change. The national government has been forced to distribute resources to counties' (Chitere and Ngundo 2017: 142). Another respondent underlined that 'Leaders are near [...] They will listen to your *shida* [problem]' (Chitere and Ngundo 2017: 142).

However, devolution has been a juddering and imperfect process at best. Partly this is due to the overwhelming complexity of a fundamental transformation in the institutional, legal, and political framework of a country.² Whereas the constitution defined the overarching principles, the nuts and bolts of devolution still needed to be spelled out on a local, regional and national level. Institutions had to be abolished and created, laws and by-laws written and passed, new fiscal and political procedures established, to name but a few challenges. To add to the difficulties, the whole political culture of a country was turned on its head; from citizens to technocrats to politicians, everyone had to adapt to the newly decentralised system, of which they frequently had uneven understanding and divergent expectations and interests (Cheeseman et al. 2016, D'Arcy and Cornell 2016, Steeves 2016).³ Lastly, but certainly not least, recent research suggests that a less idealistic intention than democratic empowerment underpinned a powerful momentum for devolution, namely the intention 'to increase rentseeking opportunities for losing elites and patronage opportunities for traditionally marginalized groups' (D'Arcy and Cornell 2016: 256). Indeed, D'Arcy and Cornell conclude that '[d]ecentralization has not changed the way in which politics is practiced in Kenya, but rather the levels on which it operates, bringing it closer to ordinary people. In most counties it seems to have entrenched at the local level the practices that have been so problematic at the national level: rent seeking by politicians and ethnic patronage politics' (D'Arcy and Cornell

¹ Nic Cheeseman and his colleagues undertook an analysis of the impact of party politics on attitudes to devolution in Kenya; according to the results of their survey, 'while 85% of Kikuyu rejected the idea of [devolution] following the lead of their co-ethnic Uhuru Kenyatta [the current president of Kenya], 72% of Luo respondents backed the proposal' (Cheeseman et al. 2016: 31).

² For a discussion of similarly fundamental regime changes in Albania, see Prato (2018a and 2018b).

³ These practical and cultural difficulties were underlined in personal communications with informants working in civil society, administration as well as the business sector in Kisumu, Kenya, in June 2014.

2016: 273). This "mirroring effect" in personal accumulation' (Steeves 2016: 494) on a county level resonates with frequently uttered sentiments on the street, where people will exclaim 'the only thing that has been devolved is corruption'.⁴

Corruption, however, is a many-headed creature; it can both serve to *include* actors in redistributive networks through patronage and clientelism, as well as *exclude* actors who do not have the right connections, identities or means (Koechlin 2015, 2013). Within the discourse of political tribalism, the inclusion of ethnic leaders in government coupled with the decentralisation of public resources promised political emancipation as well as immediate material benefits. Perhaps not surprisingly, therefore, respondents in Kisumu complained most about the lack of political and economic spaces that devolution had failed to open up. Asked to name the main problems of their county governments, 'corruption (23.1%), selfish and inaccessible leaders (17.2%), inadequate health and sanitation services (7.8%), tribalism and nepotism in employment and award of tenders (7.8%), empty promises/incomplete projects (6.2%) [...] and lack of involvement in people in planning (6.2%) were mentioned' by residents of Kisumu (Chitere and Ngundo 2017: 143). These findings are in line with the findings on a broader level discussed above: political practices on a national level, characterised by corruption and patronage, have been 'localised' through devolution. Disenchantment and disillusionment with the — now local — political élite is, at least partly, a result of the 'wrong' kind of corruption. Devolution had carried the hope of including formerly excluded citizens; indeed, making them full citizens where 'formal aspects of citizenship, such as political rights, must coincide and be seen to coincide with economic and civil rights and the right to justice' (Pardo and Prato 2010: 10).⁵ This has not occurred to the extent that citizens had hoped for, as the following quotes from Kisumu respondents illustrate: '[The county government] has not helped me. [...] I have not been helped', or 'County haisaidi kitu chochote [county does not help in any way]... It is the cause of our problems... [There is] corruption which makes everything hard... has made it difficult for jobs to be got. You have to bribe to get a job' (Chitere and Ngundo 2017: 142).

Summing up, devolution has dashed the hopes of many people in Kisumu and elsewhere with regard to greater political, economic and legal citizenship — although, as the responses by urban dwellers indicate, it would merit a separate discussion on specific meanings attached to 'citizenship' by local actors, and the transformations that these meanings are undergoing.⁶ With regard to the structural effects of devolution, it is early days yet, and findings are very much illustrative of a process, rather than a product. And yet it is safe to say that evidence from the ground points to the localisation of national practices of exclusion. Whereas before devolution whole ethnic groups and regions were excluded from enjoying the fruits of citizenship, now localised, more specific forms of differentiation have

⁴ Most recently heard in several conversations during a field visit to Nairobi and Kisumu in January and February 2017.

⁵ See also Pardo (2000), Pardo and Prato (2018), Pardo (2018a and 2018b) and Prato (2018a and 2018b).

⁶ For an interesting case-study of changing practices of citizenship, see Atalay (2018a and 2018b,); and of seemingly conflicting forms of citizenship, see Mollica (2018a and 2018b).

taken hold on a county level. However, I would like to suggest that this is but one dimension of novel political and social formations. Especially in mid-sized urban areas such as Kisumu (see Koechlin and Förster 2017), new spaces are emerging that are both being shaped by as well as shape the practices, imaginations and aspirations of urban citizens.

The aim of the full discussion (Koechlin 2018) is to explore these changing relations, material as well as social spaces, and provide a better understanding of their structuring both by and of urban actors, practices and broader articulations of citizenship. What repertoires and regimes do urban actors draw on seeking to establish normative and moral dominance? Who is included, who is excluded on which grounds? Of particular interest are the diverging meanings given to 'legitimacy', and the ways in which established claims and practices of legitimacy and connected meanings and practices of urban citizenship may be changing. In the first section, a brief synthesis of the background to devolution and its effects on the political and administrative landscape on a county level in Kisumu is provided, paying special attention to hopes and aspirations of citizens of Kisumu. In the second section, I take a closer look at novel urban spaces, and the ways in which urban actors make and shape new spaces of social and political agency, which I discuss in more general terms in the third section. Lastly, I conclude with some conceptual reflections on urban futures and more specifically possible meanings of legitimacy and urban citizenship that can be gleaned from the shores of Lake Victoria.

References

- Atalay, Z. N. 2018a. Legitimacy Crisis: Commonalities and Differences. *Urbanities-Journal* of Urban Ethnography, 8 (suppl. 1): 27-31.
- Atalay, Z. N. 2018b. Legal but not Legitimate: Changing Practices of Financial Citizenship in Turkey. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Chabal, P. 2009. *Africa: The Politics of Suffering and Smiling*. Scottsville: University of KwaZulu-Natal Press.
- Cheeseman, N., Lynch, G and Willis, J. 2016. Decentralisation in Kenya: The Governance of Governors. *Journal of Modern African Studies*, 54(1): 1–35.
- Chitere, P. O. and Ngundo, V. 2017. County Governments In Kenya: People's Awareness and Perceptions of their Governance Systems and Participation in their Leadership and Poverty Reduction Projects. *Advances in Social Sciences Research Journal*, 4(6): 125–149.
- D'Arcy, M. and Cornell, A. 2016. Devolution and Corruption in Kenya: Everyone's Turn to Eat?. *African Affairs*, 115 (459): 246–273.
- Koechlin, L. 2013. *Corruption as an Empty Signifier: Politics and Political Order in Africa.* Leiden: Brill.
- Koechlin, L. 2015. Corruption, Conflict and Cities in Africa: Towards a Typology of Urban Political Articulations. Basel Papers on Political Transformations 9. Basel: Institute of Social Anthropology.

- Koechlin, L. 2018. In or Out? Claims and Practices of Legitimacy in Urban East Africa. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Koechlin, L. and Förster, T. 2017. Secondary Cities and the Formation of Political Spaces in East and West Africa. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds), *Palgrave Handbook of Urban Ethnography*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Mollica, M. 2018a. Fearing the Intrusion: Illegal but Legitimate Ethno-religious Dynamics in Lebanon. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 65-69.
- Mollica, M. 2018b. Conflicting Loyalties and Legitimate Illegality in Urban South Lebanon. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Pardo, I. 2000. Introduction—Morals of Legitimacy: Interplay between Responsibility, Authority and Trust. In I. Pardo (ed.), *Morals of Legitimacy: Between Agency and System*. Oxford: Berghahn.
- Pardo, I. 2018a. 'Legal', Obnoxious and Unfair: Eroded Legitimacy of Governance in Naples. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 16-22.
- Pardo, I. 2018b. A Conundrum of Democracy: Naples as a Test Case of Governance that Lacks Legitimacy. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Pardo, I. and Prato, G. B. 2010. Introduction: Disconnected Governance and the Crisis of Legitimacy. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds), *Citizenship and the Legitimacy of Governance: Anthropology in the Mediterranean Region*, Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Pardo, I. and Prato, G. B. 2018. Introduction: Methodological and Theoretical Issues of Legitimacy. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Pardo, I. and Prato, G.B. (eds). 2018. *Legitimacy: Ethnographic and Theoretical Insights*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. Forthcoming.
- Prato, G. B. 2006. Introduction: Citizenship as Geo-Political Project. In G. B. Prato (ed.), *Political Ideology, Identity, Citizenship: Anthropological Approaches*. Special issue of *Global Bioethics*, 19 (1): 3-11. Florence: Firenze University Press. Published online: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/11287462.2006.10800880</u>
- Prato, G. B. 2018a. Dynamics of Legitimacy: Formal and Informal Contexts. Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography, 8 (suppl. 1): 9-15.
- Prato, G. B. 2018b. On the Legitimacy of Political Representation: Institutional Adaptations to Challenges from Urban Europe. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Steeves, J. 2016. The 2017 Election in Kenya: Reimagining the Past or Introducing the Future? *Commonwealth & Comparative Politics*, 54(4): 478–497.
- UN Habitat 2014. The State of African Cities 2014—Re-imagining sustainable urban transitions. Nairobi: UN Habitat.

Reflections on Anglo-Indian Experiences of Citizenship and Legitimacy

Robyn Andrews (Massey University, New Zealand) <u>R.Andrews@massey.ac.nz</u>

The September 2017 IUS workshop Erosions of Legitimacy and Urban Futures: Ethnographic Research Matters, as outlined in the Introduction to this Special Issue (Pardo and Prato 2018), gave participants the opportunity to explore ideas around legitimacy, drawing on their own ethnographically sourced material to do so. The organisation of five full days of critique and discussion of each other's work and the central concerns, including how issues of legitimacy might be investigated, effectively stimulated our ideas and thoughts about our own projects in ways that would not otherwise have happened, or at least not as quickly. My contribution focused on legitimacy around citizenship for a minority Indian-resident community, the Anglo-Indians. It drew attention to what is required to be an Indian citizen and described the distinctly Indian version of secularism. It looked at the ways in which a sense of citizenship is currently threatened for some sections of the population — as secularism itself is — and explored potential means by which members of the community might maintain a sense of legitimacy, and for some a measure of power, within their own community and the nation. An aspect I had not considered prior to the workshop is that legitimacy is something that in certain circumstances is competed for, that is, it has a zerosum game quality; so, when one group gains, another loses. I now briefly review the arguments I made, drawing on ethnographic material, beginning by introducing the community I focus upon.

Anglo-Indians are a minority community of mixed Indian and European descent. The community is the result of various European groups making their home in India from the very late 15th century onwards. From the liaisons that ensued, a culturally distinct minority community was established in India. They are defined in the Constitution which states that:

'An Anglo-Indian is a person whose father or any of whose other male progenitors in the male line is or was of European descent but who is domiciled within the territory of India and is or was born within such territory of parents habitually resident therein and not established there for temporary purposes only' (Section 366-2).

Socially and culturally Anglo-Indians are habitually more western than Indian in their practices and world views, for example, they are Christians, mostly have English as their mother tongue, and they have European names. They have a background of attachment to Britain so it is understandable that Indian Independence in 1947 appeared to pose a potentially serious threat to them and Anglo-Indians were fearful of reprisals once India gained its independence. These retaliations did not, in fact, eventuate; rather, the community was accorded a number of benefits written into the Constitution of the newly appointed Congress government. The benefits included political representation, employment reservations (referred

to by Anglo-Indians as 'quotas') in certain occupation sectors, and an allocation of grants for Anglo-Indian schools. For all that, from 1947 many Anglo-Indians migrated, mainly to English-speaking Commonwealth countries.

Their sense of having a legitimate place in India has at times been threatened, such as during the period of transition from Britain to Indian rule, and then again in the 1960s coinciding with a move in India to replace English as the national language which they mostly did not speak well enough for employment and other purposes. Other reasons for the insecurity at this time are attributed to the closure of large international companies in the main centres where many Anglo-Indians had employment and the end of employment quotas (Blunt 2005).

As I describe next, through the constitutional definition of who qualifies as an Indian citizen, and India's particular version of secularism, Anglo-Indians should have the freedom to enact their religious and cultural practices in India, that is, they should be able to freely and legitimately practice being Anglo-Indian.

The constitution of India requires that a citizen of India meets 'birth' criteria (Mitra 2010: 46) with the 5^{th} Article of the Constitution stating:

At the commencement of this Constitution, every person who has his domicile in the territory of India and—

(a) who was born in the territory of India; or

(b) either of whose parents was born in the territory of India; or

(c) who has been ordinarily resident in the territory of India for not less than five years immediately preceding such commencement, shall be a citizen of India.

Secularism is the other protection offered to Anglo-Indians and other minorities in India. This means that the state acts as a patron to all religions equally, unlike in other nations where secularism is understood to mean there is a separation of the state from religion (Chatterjee 1995, McNamara 2015). The Congress party safeguarded this ideal of multi-religious state support by enshrining it in the constitution.

Let us now look at threats eroding Anglo-Indians' sense of being legitimate Indian citizens. In May 2014, after more than 60 years of mostly Congress-led central governments, the Bharatiya Janata Party (translated as The People's Party, and abbreviated to BJP) was elected in what has been described as a landslide victory.¹ This party is described by many commentators as right wing. Others describe it as Hindu-chauvinist, known for its commitment to Hindutva (that is, an ideology seeking to establish the hegemony of Hindus and the Hindu way of life), with its policy historically reflecting Hindu nationalist positions. The BJP promotes the idea of 'India for Hindus', and has implemented Hindu ideals in a number of states where it is also the ruling party. In some states the BJP has implemented sanctions on those who contravene Hindu ideals, for example, in Maharashtra where it is now

¹ Prior to this, they had been part of a coalition government in 1998 for a year, then again in coalition for a full term until 2004.

forbidden to eat beef. Such actions go against the idea of secularism with its requirement of religious freedom, and support for minority religious practices. Not surprisingly, this has the effect of eroding a sense of security for minorities such as Anglo-Indians. This changed political situation represents for many Anglo-Indians a moment of increased concern on a par with that of independence, and then reemphasised in the 1960s.

So, what can Anglo-Indians do to ameliorate this sense of insecurity? I draw on ethnographic examples from my research in Kolkata which illustrate strategies that may be employed in carving out a legitimate place in the nation.² One example lies within the being of a person; the current president-in-chief of the All India Anglo-Indian Association (AIAIA) whose home is Kolkata, and the other is an organisation called, Calcutta Anglo-Indian Service Society (CAISS). The former demonstrates the conditions that allow for a position of legitimacy and power within the community and the nation. The latter illustrates how an organisation can work with and for their community to make a space for community members to feel at home and cared for, with access to some power.

Let us look briefly at relevant details of the two examples. A person has had an élite upbringing in a Bengali area of the city and attended prestigious (Anglo-Indian run) schools, and a well-regarded university.³ He attributes his successes to early assimilation into a mostly Hindu Bengali neighbourhood, which contributed to a sense of belonging to the nation through language and cultural ability and literacy/s. He also displays a strong sense of who he is as an Anglo-Indian, coupled with a secure personal identity through his family's and his own achievements. He recently joined the current ruling national political party which gives him capacity for political action which he may not otherwise have had access to. While this may not be a common scenario, some aspects are achievable for Anglo-Indians who learn the local language well, understand the cultural practices of neighbours, achieve a sound education and take employment opportunities.

I now turn to the second example, that of an organisation working to empower a community to feel legitimised: The Calcutta Anglo-Indian Service Society (CAISS). This organisation is very effective in the care it provides and the social networks it contributes to, both inside and outside India. The society was established in 1976 and has a reputation of humanity and integrity. Its constitution makes it clear that the aims are more than community-centric; it proposes to prepare community members, especially the youth, to be part of the nation. It takes care of those who are less able to care for themselves.

The institutional and personalised strategies employed by CAISS ameliorate many Anglo-Indians' feeling of being alienated by the nation. CAISS provides its members and beneficiaries with a sense of belonging to something that they identify with culturally, and of which they feel they are a legitimate member.

 $^{^{2}}$ At the IUS workshop, a participant made the germane point that Kolkata's Anglo-Indian might be more sheltered from BJP policies than other Anglo-Indians might. Their numbers, and more prominent positioning, in combination with the city's cosmopolitanism were all thought to play a part in this situation.

³ For his self-narrated life story see Andrews (2014).

To summarise, in the case of the individual, he has the political wherewithal and accumulated capitals (in the Bourdieuian sense; Bourdieu 1984, 1986) and cosmopolitanism to negotiate his own way. The organisation, on the other hand, works outside the broader political system and offers a unique and invaluable service to Kolkata's Anglo-Indians. These two ethnographic examples draw out different aspects of what legitimacy looks like, or what it lacks, in this socio-political space.

As I have indicated, the type of legitimacy that I addressed was concerned with citizenship, and the consensus about whose worldviews and practices are endorsed and recognised by the nation as acceptable — socially and individually. It was also about who has power, and how tactics and strategies can be activated to achieve influence in particular situations. Pardo and Prato write about the nation's responsibility to offer citizens a sense of legitimate belonging, stating that the key task of governance is, 'to establish and nurture the connection with citizens' values, needs and expectations, the strength of which depends upon the observable quality of the link between political responsibility and trust and authority in the exercise of power' (Pardo and Prato 2010: 1). This addresses the concerns of my work and the reliance of citizens on their government to provide a secure socio-political environment. But what happens when that is not provided?

India has been known for its accommodation of diverse worldviews and practices; that is, for a tolerance of difference leading to relative lack of conflict or competition over the legitimacy of different socio-cultural and religious practices. This appears to have altered over the past few years, however, with the current government demonstrating that some ways of being are more acceptably 'Indian' than others. A Hindu nationalist agenda sets up a structure entailing one set of practices being seen and felt as more legitimate than another. As Hindu members of the BJP feel emboldened, and encouraged, by having their actions endorsed by the government, other minority groups are losing their sense of legitimacy. Abraham's work in villages in Kerala (2018a, 2018b), Boucher's in a central square in Montreal (2018a, 2018b) and Pardo's analysis of the Naples ethnography (2018a, 2018b), which were presented at the workshop, provide ethnographic examples illustrating that in certain situations, as in this case, there is not the same access to a legitimate position for all; rather, a zero-sum game operates. That is, legitimacy can be seen as being finite; so, when one group gains, another loses. Conflicting claims to or views of legitimacy, with different agents competing for the same space, may result in one being deemed more legitimate, while another's claim to legitimacy is eroded.

References

- Abraham, J. 2018a. Exploring the Contours of Legitimacy in Neighbourhoods in North Kerala, India. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 32-37.
- Abraham, J. 2018b. *Changing Ideas of Legitimacy in Neighbourhoods: Reflections from a Town in Kerala.* In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Andrews, R. 2014. Christmas in Calcutta: Anglo-Indian Stories and Essays. New Delhi:

Sage.

- Blunt, A. 2005. *Domicile and Diaspora: Anglo-Indian women and the spatial politics of home*. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Boucher, N. 2018a. Legitimacy and Symbolic Politics in a Neoliberal City. *Urbanities Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 49-54.
- Boucher, N. 2018b. Detachment and commitment to legitimacy: The case of Viger Square in Montreal. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Bourdieu, P. 1984. *Distinction: A Social Critique of the Judgement of Taste*. London: Routledge.
- Bourdieu, P. 1986. The Forms of Capital. <u>https://www.marxists.org/reference/subject/philosophy/works/fr/bourdieu-forms-</u> <u>capital.htm</u>
- Chatterjee, P. 1995. Religious Minorities and the Secular State: Reflections on an Indian Impasse. *Public Culture*, (8), 11-39. doi: 0899-2363/96/0801-02
- McNamara, R. 2015. The Uneven Aesthetics of I. Allan Sealy's The Trotter-Nama: Secularization, Nationalism, and the Marginalization of the Anglo-Indian Community. *Postcolonial Text*, 10 (2): 1-21.
- Mitra, S. 2010. Citizenship in India: Some Preliminary Results of a National Survey. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 45 (9): 46-53.
- Pardo, I., and Prato, G. B. (2010). Introduction: Disconnected Governance and the Crisis of Legitimacy. In I. Pardo G. B. Prato (eds.), *Citizenship and the Legitimacy of Governance: Anthropology in the Mediterranean Region*. Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routedge).
- Pardo, I. 2018a. 'Legal', Obnoxious and Unfair: Eroded Legitimacy of Governance in Naples. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 16-22.
- Pardo, I. 2018b. A Conundrum of Democracy: Naples as a Test Case of Governance that Lacks Legitimacy. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds).
- Pardo, I and Prato, G. B. 2018. Introduction: The Ethnography of Legitimacy and its Theoretical Ramifications. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 1-8.
- Pardo, I and Prato, G. B. (eds). 2018. *Legitimacy: Ethnographic and Theoretical Insights*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. Forthcoming.

Fearing the Intrusion: Illegal but Legitimate Ethno-religious Dynamics in Lebanon

Marcello Mollica (University of Messina) <u>mmollica@unime.it</u>

Colonel Charles Henry Churchill, British consul in Ottoman Syria, reports that in 1850 a group of American Christian (Protestant) missionaries and their families living in Tripoli (a Sunni Muslim city, in northern Lebanon) decided to spend a few months in the Christian Maronite town of Ehden (today, a famous touristic mountain location), northwest of the Cedar Forest. Once in the village, they entered the houses they had rented. But that same night, suddenly, the village bells began to ring and armed Ehden inhabitants gathered around the houses of the missionaries. Maronite priests led the protest with crosses in their hands. The roofs were climbed, the doors and windows broken and screams rang through the streets: 'We do not want men of the Bible', people cried, and, 'There is no place here for heretics'. The missionaries had to flee in the middle of the night. However, although the outrage could not go unpunished, it was difficult to persuade the Maronites of the town to act because in such matters they were under the jurisdiction of the Ottoman Sultan, Abdülmecid I. This was so because the ecclesiastical hierarchy had always played a decisive role in transmitting the Maronite identity sense, including a community feeling with reference to the homogeneity of both territory (especially on Mount Lebanon) and religion, which in the case of Ehden discriminated within Christianity (Churchill 1985: 56-59).

The Ehden story was what came to my mind when I first read Italo Pardo and Giuliana B. Prato's paper on 'Erosions of Legitimacy and Urban Futures: Ethnographic Research Matters' on which their Introduction to this Special Issue is based (Pardo and Prato 2018); especially when they treat the *vexata quaestio*, 'What are the culturally specific practices by which people make the categories of the legitimate and illegitimate shift across the domains of the moral, the economic, the legal and the civic?'. However, the above should also be read in light of Pardo's Introduction to his *Morals of Legitimacy* (2000), where he articulates the concept that, issues of 'obedience' and 'compliance' aside, the use of power cannot be justified only by relations of mere domination.

In contemporary Lebanon, the (illegal) use of power by Hezbollah (Shi'a Muslims), which is a political legal entity but also a paramilitary illegal entity, has never been seriously challenged by the other two (legal) entities that manage power in Lebanon; namely, the Lebanese Army, acting as legitimate force in Lebanon as a whole, and the United Nations Interim Force in Lebanon (Unifil), acting as a peacekeeping force in the South of the country at the Israeli border. Indeed, over the last decades, Hezbollah's relationships with both entities have been of coexistence, not of conflict or serious tension. However, a number of contemporary events in Lebanon — including the dramatic spill over of the ongoing Iraqi and Syrian conflicts and the connected huge influx of refugees clustering into ethno-religious homogeneous areas — cannot be disjointed from the well-established, long-standing history

of sectarianism and violence (Makdisi 2000, Mollica 2016), both without and within Lebanon, as shown by the case of Ehden. This has strongly marked the historical memory of every religious denomination in Lebanon, as well as that of the nearly half a million Palestinian refugees living in twelve camps all around the country.

In my ten-year long fieldwork, conducted between 2006 and 2016 mostly in the South Lebanese city of Tyre, I have often looked at conflicting loyalties and the subsequent legitimate illegality proper of a pluri-ethnic and multi-religious society. Here, moralities may be in conflict with each other, while overlapping with specific loyalties that may lie outside of the nation state, in which case they are mostly religiously-driven. Thus, when these loyalties clash the clash is about the very essence of the state.

However, in a consociational model like the Lebanese 'confessional' system, this kind of conflict is institutionally mitigated by a (multi-religious) share of power (Kerr 2005). I submit that it is precisely in the representation of the tension between a democratic system and a consociational one that the ethnographer's contribution must lie, since he must academically contextualize the borders of this often-overlooked tension. This is a main concern in the way he constructs his detachment from what is happening on the ground and in his narrative, which is proportional to his involvement in the events. It is precisely here that Colonel Churchill's narrative intersects my ethnography.

In contemporary Lebanon, from the national electoral body down to municipal-level representatives, members are elected in order to defend specific ethno-religious interests and the electorate itself acts according to ethno-religious interests (Mollica and Dingley 2015). These interests, however, are mediated by the presence of an ethno-religiously defined *zaim*; these are political leaders who belong to an ethno-religious group and whose political legitimacy as well as morality may change according to each ethno-religious group.

Here, it is worth mentioning another point developed by Pardo on the kind of immorality identifiable in the government. Pardo mentions, on the one hand, the 'immorality of dishonesty' (2000: 5) and, on the other, the immorality 'of neglect of duty and of the failure to punish this' (ibid.). When contrasting this conceptual framework with my South Lebanese ethnography, the issue of dishonesty comes paradoxically to the fore with reference to the legal legitimate authority, which is represented as inherently corrupted by the non-legal legitimate authority (Mollica 2014).

Ethical concerns are not univocal, they are, instead, part of a communal frame which is articulated in different ways, making these concerns not just competing but irreconcilable. This is a common occurrence (even an institutionalized one) in consociational models, which often leave it to each ethno-religious community to self-regulate communities-based matters. The state has no role to play in these matters. So, what is morally appropriate or legitimated is relegated to what is moral or legitimate according to each ethno-religious group.

The dominant Hezbollah rhetoric would portray the Lebanese State as incapable of managing resources, as the post-2006 War reconstruction proved (Mollica 2014). This is quite visible in the urban context of Tyre, where religious separation penetrates each realm of human life starting with the economic dimension.

Pardo and Prato (2010) identify a difficult coexistence between different cultures, referring to ways of exclusion and inclusion that implicitly inhibit participation and integration. In Lebanon this difficulty became even more complex as sections of the Lebanese population felt closer to co-ethno-religious population dwelling outside Lebanon than to cocitizens living in Lebanon. In recent years this dynamic has gained further input from the rapid radicalization of the Syrian conflict along religious lines (Fawaz 2016). In Lebanon, this has brought about an increase in distrust towards co-national Lebanese belonging to other ethno-religious groups.

Hezbollah (informal) forces and activities in the city of Tyre were not just well known; they were tacitly overlapping (formal) forces and activities of the legal and legitimate (Lebanese state) authority. Members' citizenship was fully submerged by individuals' religious belonging and affiliation. Moreover, the illegitimate force is territorially and militarily so strong that it is inconceivable for the State (the Lebanese Army and the Lebanese Police Forces) to contrast it, let alone clash with it.

My point is that the (religiously defined) target audience might consider those actions necessary for the very stability of the (religiously defined) community. Given the need to maintain cohesion among members of the community for security reasons, there is no room left for ethical concerns or for respect for the official state structure. Here, it is precisely what are officially deemed to be 'illegal' actions that are needed in reality to guarantee the protection of the (religious) community. This happens because the legal 'legitimate' authority is regarded as incapable of guaranteeing security through 'legal' means, which is what happened in Ehden in 1850.

Power, as Pardo and Prato argue, '*must be seen to be legitimate*' (2010: 2). In my case study on Tyre, power is indeed legitimate, as no one would challenge what Hezbollah men are doing. They carry out blatant patrol and checks, for instance, on people walking on the most important local roads, in the process literally closing these roads to all traffic; and they do so with no need to display any weaponry. The repetition of these events has made them more than just legitimated within the local community and beyond; it has made them embedded in customary rules that in Tyre are now as strong as state rules.

In this context, belonging must be conceptualized with reference to specific (religiously-defined) groups, acting in (ethno-religiously defined) areas in order to pursue (ethno-religiously defined) interests. Nevertheless, what is in question here is the definition and applicability of 'citizenship', and whether the inherent sense of belonging specific to the status of citizen is to be associated with the nation-state, meaning the consociational multi-ethnic entity called Lebanon, which is, in turn, made up of a number of homogeneous ethno-religious, territorially-based entities. In dealing with this issue I would rely on the framework articulated by Heater (1990: 163), which suggests that the maintenance of the *status* of citizen may well be associated with small geographic units; in other words, local communities.

The legitimacy that Hezbollah had gained within and beyond its target (religious) population was manifest in the substantial, tacit acceptance of what were otherwise illicit practices. This ongoing social process based on communal (religious) cohesion has reached a

level where, according to my informants, the local population approaches Hezbollah for a number of services for which the Lebanese legitimate authority is technically responsible. The local population often approaches not only Hezbollah affiliated-groups working in the social and economic realms but also Hezbollah units that work on the suppression of illegal activities, including activities that should be prosecuted by the Lebanese police and security forces, such as criminality, drugs and prostitution. This goes on regardless of Hezbollah's claims that they do not deal with these issues. Clearly, some sections of the Lebanese religious communities trust more the reliability of Hezbollah than that of the legal structures of the Lebanese state. It is at this local level that the communally, religiously-based construction of defence may be more manifest. This may work through a local leader who liaises with a religious, and often a political-religious national authority that operates as a legitimate ethno-religious militia.

These dynamics seem particularly significant when we consider the issue of accountability for the potential illegal activities carried out by illegal organizations; for instance, the aforementioned check points operated by Hezbollah. Such is the identification with 'illegal' organizations that are regarded as being an integral part of the wider (religious) community that the issue of 'punishing' their members — with whom the religious community empathizes — never arises. Instead, should the legal 'legitimate' authority (the Lebanese state) interfere with an activity that is represented by the 'illegal' legitimate organization (Hezbollah) as necessary for security reasons, it could be accused of interfering with a legitimate activity; a legitimacy that, as I have mentioned, prescinds that granted by the official authority.

As for the story told by the British consul Churchill, the American (Protestant) missionaries were driven out of that Christian (Maronite) village because for those local (Maronite) Christians 'the [Maronite] Patriarch was their Sultan'. This was the very essence of the Maronite religion, where every authority was absorbed by that of the Parish priest. In Ehden, the community (defined as such in religious terms) was both a religious guide and an extension of the political leadership. It was therefore the Maronite priests who had to lead the protest when the Maronite community of Ehden felt threatened by American Protestant missionaries.

For both Shi'a Hezbollah (Muslim) and Maronite (Christians) the dominant rhetoric is community-driven and the potential alien components are seen as elements that jeopardize the religiously defined solidarity of the community. The main consequence is that alternative (community-legitimated) enforcers of the law are needed, for the state enforcers seem (or are represented as) incapable of guaranteeing the security of a local (religiously-defined) community that does not trust the State legitimate forces.

References

Churchill, C.H. 1985 [1853]. *Mount Lebanon. A ten Years' Residence from 1842 to 1852*, vol. 1. London: Saunders and Otley.

Fawaz, A. G. 2016. ISIS. A History. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

- Kerr, M. 2005. *Imposing Power-Sharing: Conflict and Coexistence in Northern Ireland and Lebanon*. Dublin: Irish Academic Press.
- Heater, D. 1990. *Citizenship: The Civic Ideal in World History, Politics and Education*. London: Longman.
- Makdisi, U. 2000. *The Culture of Sectarianism: Community, History, and Violence in Nineteenth-Century Ottoman Lebanon*. Los Angeles: University of California Press.
- Mollica, M. 2014. A Post-War Paradox of Informality in South Lebanon: Rebuilding Houses or Destroying Legitimacy. *Studies of Transition States and Societies*, 6 (1): 34-49.
- Mollica, M. and Dingley, J. 2015. Sectarian Dynamics of Multi-Cultural Norms and the Law in Lebanon: A Warning for the Future of Northern Ireland. *National Identities*, 17 (4): 405-431.
- Mollica, M. 2016. *Terra e società etniche divise: il caso del Libano del Sud*. Messina: Armando Siciliano Editore.
- Pardo, I. 2000. Introduction—Morals of Legitimacy: Interplay between Responsibility, Authority and Trust. In I. Pardo (ed.), *Morals of Legitimacy: Between Agency and the System*. Oxford: Berghahn.
- Pardo, I. and Prato G. B. 2010. Introduction: Disconnected Governance and the Crisis of legitimacy. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds), *Citizenship and the Legitimacy of Governance: Anthropology in the Mediterranean Region*. Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Pardo, I and Prato, G. B. 2018. Introduction: The Ethnography of Legitimacy and its Theoretical Ramifications. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 1-8.

Morality and Legitimacy in the Sewŏl Protest in South Korea

Liora Sarfati (University of Tel Aviv) lsarfati@tauex.tau.ac.il

When the Sewŏl Ferry sank in 2014, leaving 304 dead and 9 missing passengers, South Korea was shocked and grieving. The mass mourning soon turned into extensive anti-government protests. First, the activists focused on collecting 10,000,000 signatures on petitions to change the law in order to enable proper investigation, punishment of those found guilty, and redrafting of safety and rescue regulations. Later, in the winter of 2016 the protests extended and called for the impeachment of the former president, Pak Kŭn-hye (Park Geun-hye). She was eventually impeached in March 2017, in what came to be called the 'bittersweet victory for families of Sewol ferry victims' (Griffiths and Han 2017). Mourning the death of so many youths has created a momentum of civic action along enduring debates over governance transparency, morality and policy. Moreover, this protest showed that democratic actions could overcome even the authority of Pak, which stemmed from both tradition — she was the daughter of a legendary (albeit disputed) president — and the law, as a democratically chosen leader. She, however, lacked charisma, a main trait of the authority types categorized by Max Weber (1947). Much of Pak's blame in relation to the Sewŏl Ferry's sinking can indeed be discussed in terms of lack of charisma. She did not act as the trustworthy leader that Korea wanted to see during such a national crisis.

While South Korea has often been described a homogeneous nation, I argue that complex relationships between social classes create urban clashes. In the Sewŏl movement, multitudes of individuals joined forces to demand justice over government actions that they deemed illegitimate. The prevailing assumption, that ruling and economic élites cooperated to silence the reasons for the tragic sinking, created multiple conspiracy theories about corruption. These rumours empowered the protesters and resulted in the formation of a broad social legitimacy and participation in their struggle. The protest camp allowed strangers to build a sense of mutual understanding and attachment of the kind that Yael Navaro calls serendipitous (2017: 212) even while living in a metropolis like Seoul. The Sewŏl protesters were aware of the legal system's power and limited their dissent to legal actions with hopes of changing some existing laws in order to bring about the desired societal changes.

The Sewŏl sank in April 16, 2014. It soon became clear that the ferry was not handled, maintained, or supervised properly. The media accused different government ministries for that situation, and many blamed the president personally for not supervising the rescue operation well. The spontaneous demonstrations became a semi-permanent protest camp that since 2014 the mayor of Seoul has allowed to stay in Kwanghwamun Square. Two years later, in 2016, when the alleged corruption of the president were exposed by the media, the demonstrations became massive, and their impact stronger. The public dissent in Seoul reached its height in the winter of 2016-7. At that time, more than one million people attended every Saturday the night's candle vigil protest in Kwanghwamun Square. Many protesters felt

that the impeachment of Pak would not have materialized had they ceased to attract the public's attention and exert pressure on policy makers through demonstrations and social media campaigns. In the impeachment motion, the president's misconduct pertaining to the Sewõl Ferry's sinking was discussed in detail, although she was not specifically blamed for breaking the disobeying law.

In an extended forthcoming work (Sarfati 2018), I analyse the events and public opinion shifts that led to these mass protests. There, after a brief discussion of the history of protests in downtown Seoul, I discuss three cases that demonstrate how questions of morality and legitimacy became central to the rage against former president Pak and her government. The development of the protests and their outcome emerges from these cases in their chronological order of occurrence, beginning with summer 2014, when, as testified by the first case-study, volunteers dedicated immense efforts to collect signatures on a petition to change the law in order to enable a proper investigation of the Ferry's sinking. The second case-study brings out the distress of the bereaved families and their supporters when the ministry of education decided to clear both the drowned students' classrooms of their personal effects and many commemorative installations. The third case details the impeachment demonstrations; here the power of this dissent movement is revealed through vivid instances of criticism and anger, as well as verbal iterations of the perceived immorality of former president Pak Kŭn-hye's behaviour.

The ethnography documents the strong tendency to construct public opinions in urban Korea on assessments of morality, humanity, and responsibility, rather than on legality and formal conduct codes. It shows how the former president failed in a key task of governance; that is, 'to establish and nurture the connection with citizens' values, needs and expectations, the strength of which depends upon the observable quality of the link between political responsibility and trust and authority in the exercise of power' (Pardo and Prato 2010: 1). When I recorded some of the protesters' narratives, the speakers would ask me to conceal their identities, fearing persecution by the authorities. While they spoke freely in front of people who they met a short while before in the camp, their trust of the world outside the dissent movement was dropping. Their mistrust in their president and government often stemmed from the poor treatment of the bereaved families. The president did not meet them individually to express condolences, nor was there enough official support for the families' commemoration projects.

The empty classrooms of the 250 high-school students that were among the victims of this tragedy have turned into spontaneous community commemoration spaces when acquaintances created small altars for each student's spirit by placing food items, flowers, photographs and personal notes on the deserted desks. In 2016, the local education ministry decided to begin reusing these classrooms. Dismantling the desk-altars, while lawful, was received as immoral by the bereaved families and their supporters, and reignited the civil unrest around the Sewõl issue. The dissent was dominated by the feeling that these tragic deaths would be less painful had significant changes in society occurred as a result. Therefore, the commemoration venues are deemed to be crucial not only as sites for individual mourning

but also as a constant reminder of the harm that negligence and lack of proper safety laws can cause.

Conflicting moralities often mark the relationship between economic goals and personal safety. In the Korean case, the president was viewed as responsible for these two goals. As a leader, she should have managed the demands of large business conglomerates for the country's economic prosperity, while at the same time taking care of laws and regulations that would allow personal safety for all. These two issues are in conflict because safety regulations are financially costly and are, therefore, often objected to by business owners. In the Sewŏl ferry's case, had the state made sure that every ferry must pass a real inspection before leaving port, the cargo in the ferry would probably not have been allowed to travel unfastened, which caused the disaster. Moreover, the hired staff would not have been allowed to sail without proper emergency training, and the rescue operation would not have been fully handed over to a private, unsupervised company (You and Park 2017). President Pak was personally accused to be responsible for these fatal shortcomings, and she did little to appease the public in the few public speeches she gave on the topic. The protesters have been well aware of the power of law. They have used lawyer advisors and have worked mostly within the boundaries of the law to advance their cause. However, much of the discourse around the Sewŏl affair has regarded morality as more important that simply a matter of obeying the law.

As the political life of Korea continued, the recent elections demonstrated the power of the Sewŏl protests in forming a new era of South Korea's ruling élite. On 9 May 2017 Mun Jae-In, a liberal candidate who was not related to the right-wing president Pak, won the elections. In one of the latest election speeches, he declared that he would be 'the president who never forgets Sewŏl as long as there is spring and as long as April comes every year'. He promised he would work to reveal the whole truth about the sinking and make Korea a safer country. Symbolically, right before the elections he chose Kwanghwamun Square for his last president election campaign speech.

The Sewŏl protests and the subsequent impeachment offer a fertile ethnographic field to examine how urban environments host public dissent and how democratic governance handles such situations. Moreover, it demonstrates how the way in which the public perceive the boundaries of their leaders' responsibilities do not necessarily overlap with those set by formal law. Therefore, anti-corruption protests can start even in the absence of proven law breaking. Indeed, the accumulated emotions of various individuals can affect the ruling élite and generate significant social change, as has happened in Seoul during the past three years.

References

Griffiths, J. and Han Sol. 2017. Park Impeachment: Bittersweet Victory for Families of Sewol Ferry Victims, *CNN*, March 12. <u>https://edition.cnn.com/2017/03/11/asia/south-korea-park-impeachment-sewol-ferry/</u>

Navaro, Y. 2017. Diversifying Affect. Cultural Anthropology, 32 (2): 219-214.

- Pardo, I. and Prato, G. B. 2010. Introduction: Disconnected Governance and the Crisis of Legitimacy. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds), *Citizenship and the Legitimacy of Governance: Anthropology in the Mediterranean Region*, Farnham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Sarfati, L. 2018. Mourning Through Protest in Seoul: Debates over Governance, Morality, and Legitimacy after the Sewöl Ferry Disaster. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds), *Legitimacy: Ethnographic and Theoretical Insights*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. Forthcoming.
- Weber, M. 1947. *The Theory of Social and Economic Organizations*. New York: The Free Press.
- You, Jong-sung and Park Youn-min. 2017. The Legacies of State Corporatism in Korea: Regulatory Capture in the Sewol Ferry Tragedy. *Journal of East Asian Studies*, 17: 95-118.

Political Participation and Legitimization of Power. The State and the Family: A Romani Case

Zdeněk Uherek (Charles University, Czech Republic) zdenek.uherek@fsv.cuni.cz

Modern democracies include a number of political systems that intertwine with each other. State policies encapsulate the local and regional ones, employers' policies towards employees and vice versa, policies of particular minorities, age groups, genders, and diaspora policies. The political cultures of individual political systems interact with each other but adopt specific ethics, values and norms that, in turn, influence views of legitimacy and processes of legitimation (Pardo and Prato 2010). Family policies always have a significant influence on the state, parliamentary policies, because family policies are as universal in state systems as state policies since almost all state citizens are at the same time family members. In Western democracies, as in other forms of state, politicians must legitimise the right to state power by the quality of family, and the responsibility towards their family is understood as political capital. The dynasties of the state officials, politicians and diplomats are well-known from the present-day United States, India, China and North Korea; family partners accompany politicians on state visits and participate in important decision-making processes. However, the intermingling of the state and family policies is limited, and both systems significantly differ, interalia by the setting of power relations and legitimizing of power. States firmly set boundaries between family and public interests.

Interrelations between the state and family political systems are crucial, but scholars do not study them in the contemporary world systematically. However, anthropological knowledge provides a basis to grasp these processes. Different policy strategies and practices applied to lineage systems and state systems were described on African cases in the first half of 20th century by Meyer Fortes and Evans-Pritchard (Fortes and Evans-Pritchard 1940). Later, Edmund Leach showed that both approaches to politics can exist simultaneously in one society and that one can transmute into the other and vice versa (Leach 1954). Edmund Leach's and Van Velsen's concepts (Van Velsen 1964), that of Fredrik Barth on flexible boundaries between societies based on the lineage system and that of centralised authority, administrative machinery and judicial institutions (Barth 1969, Verdery 1994) can help to explain the situational metamorphosis of both.

The conceptualisation of the metamorphoses of both systems and their intermingling is well visible in cases where people are not well skilled in shifting from one system to another, where the state political system is weak or underdeveloped, or the two systems are significantly different and hardly compatible. This was frequently the case of the Romani politicians in the 1990s in the then Czechoslovakia and now in the contemporary Czech Republic.

The Roma are a large minority in the Czech Republic predominantly made up of the mass of unskilled and poor people living on the margins of society (Uherek 2007, Bodewik

2008, Davidová and Uherek 2014). After 1989, with the onset of democratic changes, it seemed that the Roma would improve their social status. They were officially recognized by the government as a national minority and were allowed to report their nationality in the census, and the state authorities ceased to exert pressure on them to assimilate. After the turnover in 1989, the Roma successfully entered political life and were often smoothly engaged in the new political structures (Pečínka 2009). In November 1989, a preparatory committee for the creation of a Roma political party was established, and in 1990 the party was registered under the name Roma Civic Initiative (ROI). The newly born political party immediately created a coalition with Václav Havel's Civic Forum and became popular also among the non-Roma population. In the early 1990s, this party received mass support from the voters. It was successful in elections and became represented in all three then Czechoslovak Parliamentary Chambers (Pečínka 2009). The way had been opened to create a self-confident national minority represented in parliament and involved in the Czechoslovakian governing bodies. However, the situation soon changed.

In the census of 1991, where the Roma could first declare themselves as a minority, only a small proportion of the population expected to be Roma claimed their minority status. Of the estimated 250,000 inhabitants of Romani origin in the Czech Republic, only approximately 33 thousand declared a Roma nationality. The assumption that on the occasion of the first census many Roma did not realize what the census meant, or were afraid to claim their nationality found no confirmation. In the 2001 census, 6,149 people declared a Romani nationality and in 2011 only 5,135 persons did so.¹ In the 1990s, the questions arose as to how to conceptualise the Romani minority and who are Roma and who are not. Also, Roma politicians could not use electoral support and failed to succeed in the next election. The party leaders soon lost their positions, and the Romani party never returned to high-level politics.

The Roma political movement has broken into many factions, and many organisations have withdrawn from political activities (Pečínka 2009). Romani politicians have been repeatedly accused of having no right to speak about the Roma as a whole because they have no support among the Romani voters. On the other hand, most of the 250,000 Romani people are identifiable, often know about themselves and occasionally call themselves Roma or Gypsies, but use this label deliberately only on some occasions. What is essential for the present reflection is that they predominantly think about themselves in terms of extended families. While the number of Roma in the Czech Republic is large, there are only several dozens of extended families. A Roma individual usually knows without need of assistance to which family another Roma individual belongs to and operates on the basis of this notion.

For politicians who were used to making general family policies, it is difficult to operate on an ethnic level precisely because at this level family policy requires different political strategies. At this level family policy needs to deal with family uniqueness, frequently even separation. It needs to deal with strong identification with family members and the occasional linking of family-friendly clusters into joint action. The head of an extended Romani family does not allow the more generally defined whole to compromise his hierarchal place. His

¹ The census data were published by the Czech Statistical Office.

authority in the family is most important to him; subordinating himself to the head of another family would mark the loss of authority within his own family. In my experience, it is sometimes easier for a Roma to accept subordination to a non-Roma than to a Roma from another family, as the 'Gaje' [non-Roma] are outside the field of their competition. On the other hand, ethnic or national policy requires openness, a talent for negotiations, ability to compromise and the will to subordinate one's interests or family interests to the interests of higher units.

The issue of succession is also significant. The superior position of a lineage political leader can only be replaced by someone from the family circle or by a relative close to the family. Otherwise, the succession in wider than a family political circle usually turns into a duel with another family — and thus families cannot cooperate. The result may be the splitting of parties or movements. The Vlax Romani in the area of sub-ethnic politics are sometimes able to cooperate in their own excluded political networks to elect their own 'kings' and to follow their ethical rules in broader coalitions. They can, however, hardly practice such policies with other sub-ethnicities, especially with the Rumungri or Servike who are the majority among the Roma in the Czech Republic (Davidová 1995, Davidová and Uherek 2014). The Vlax Romani consider the Rumungri and Servike as inferior, and unsuitable for serious dialogue.

Roma concepts of ritual purity, which are derived from the kind of family a person is born into, how he or she lives and what his or her diet is, also make communication between the Roma difficult. The ranking of families according to their ritual purity refers to the Indian concept of 'jati' and, thus, to Romani past (Hübschmannová 1998, 1999). Noncommunication for reasons of ritual purity and the social status of the family cannot usually be bridged, not even when it comes to political life. It is not possible to negotiate freely with a person with different social status, sit with him or her at a meeting table or have a working lunch. Families of different status could, in the short term, support the same party, but they would be unable to negotiate anything. Serious difficulties arose when party problems needed to be solved collectively, not just a cluster of party members.

Another complication is that the Roma can hardly imagine non-utilitarian actions beyond family hospitality. Romani families provide a guest with food but they rarely share their work, skills, ideas or money with the outside world without prospects of immediate profit. If someone does so, other Romani families become suspicious and usually look for hidden benefit for such voluntary actions, or assume deception. Many examples document this claim. In a conversation with one acquaintance in 2016, I noted, for example, the following statement: 'We would organise something for children — a summer camp or summer school. But parents do not want it much. They mostly look what profit you can have from it'. That is also one of the reasons why the Roma activists and politicians are not supported by the wider Romani public. The notion that Romani politicians earn money on other Roma and exploit their poor status is widespread. On the contrary, the Romani politicians and employees in public service are constantly urged from their own families to get benefits for their own use. Irena Kašparová, in her book on Romani politicians, expressed

the opinion that the Roma who remain on the political scene are usually either Roma from mixed marriages or live with a non-Romani partner (Kašparová 2014).

Apart from the Romani movement along the boundaries of individual families, fragmentation was also caused by political views. In addition to the ROI supporting Václav Havel's Civic Forum, the Roma Democratic Party was co-operating with the Communists. The range of political interests of the Roma gradually increased and their political attitudes copied the spectrum of interests of the majority population. As the position of the Roma in broader society deteriorated, a number of the left-leaning Roma gradually developed nostalgia for the paternalistically-oriented state before November 1989.

Roma politicians, as well as people engaged in various social services, are in a state of permanent tension. They are engaged as representatives of local or Roma communities, and sometimes they are legitimated to work for the Roma, the municipality or the State. But often the primary social control that they perceive comes from the family, and their preferred social relationships are embedded in the family. They create unity — one body (Strathern 2005) — with their family. This tension has consequences that are found in many societies: misused subsidies, nepotism and protectionism. However, what is characteristic of the Roma society is that it counts on it. Roma families that do not have representatives in power circles assume that the Roma in power will primarily support their own families; therefore, often they do not support representatives of other families politically.

While the present comment focus on a specific group — the 'Romani' — it touches on more general questions that speak to the debate on legitimacy (Pardo 2000, Pardo and Prato 2010) and its current developments, as pointed out by Italo Pardo and Giuliana B. Prato's paper on 'Erosions of Legitimacy and Urban Futures: Ethnographic Research Matters' that initiated the discussions held in the workshop of the International Urban Symposium in Sicily in 2017, and on which their Introduction to this Special Issue is based (Pardo and Prato 2018). In a forthcoming essay (2018), I expand on the present discussion to address in ethnographic detail the legitimacy of power and the balance between family and public interests. In their essay on Disconnected Governance and the Crisis of Legitimacy, Italo Pardo and Giuliana Prato discuss citizens' needs, values and expectations, on the one hand, and governing bodies' political responsibility and ability to impose power, on the other (Pardo & Prato 2010). In every society, people strive to harmonise family and kin network interests with a professional career and broad societal claims. For an individual, harmonizing the requirements and expectations of different social networks is a question both of professional responsibility and of trust that the people to whom one delegates powers will adequately use these powers. The art of being a member of several social structures and appropriately implementing the plurality of social roles is the result of years of social training.

References

Barth, F. 1969. *Ethnic Groups and Boundaries*. Boston: Little, Brown and Company. Bodewik, C. 2008. *Czech Republic: Improving Chances for of the Roma*. Report No.

46120 CZ. World Bank.

- Davidová, E. 1995. Romano drom. Cesty Romů 1945-1990. Olomouc: Univerzita Palackého.
- Davidová, E. and Uherek, Z. 2014. *Romové v československé a české společnosti v letech 1945-2012*. Praha: Národohospodářský ústav Josefa Hlávky.
- Fortes, M. and Evans-Pritchard, E. E. 1940. Introduction. In M. Fortes and E. E. Evans-Pritchard (eds) *African Political Systems*. London: Oxford University Press.

Hübschmannová, M. 1998. To eat is to honour Got. In T. Acton (ed.), *Scholarship and the Struggle. Commitment in Romani Studies*. Hertfordshire: University of Hertfordshire Press.

- Hübschmannová, M. 1999. Od etnické kasty ke strukturovanému etnickému společenství. In H. Lisá (ed.), *Romové v České republice 1945 -1998*. Praha: Socioklub.
- Kašparová, I. 2014. Politika romství, romská politika. Praha, Brno: Slon.
- Leach, E., 1954. *Political Systems of Highland Burma: A Study of Kachin Social Structure*. London: London School of Economics and Political Science.
- Pardo, I. and Prato, G. 2010. Introduction: Disconnected Governance and the Crisis of Legitimacy. In: I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds) *Citizenship and the Legitimacy of Governance: Anthropology in the Mediterranean Region*. Farham: Ashgate (now published by Routledge).
- Pardo, I and Prato G. B. 2018. Introduction: The Ethnography of Legitimacy and its Theoretical Ramifications. *Urbanities-Journal of Urban Ethnography*, 8 (suppl. 1): 1-8.
- Pečínka, P. 2009. Romské strany a politici v Evropě. Brno: Doplněk.
- Strathern, M. 2005. *Kinship, Law and Unexpected. Relatives are Always a Surprise.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Uherek, Z. 2007. Romské migrace ze Slovenska v kontextu evropských migračních trendů. *Sociologický časopis*, 43 (4): 747–774.
- Van Velsen, J. 1964. *The Politics of Kinship. A Study in Social Manipulation among the Lakeside Tonga of Nyasaland*. Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Verdery, K. 1994. Ethnicity, Nationalism and State-making. In: H. Vermeulen and C. Govers (eds), Anthropology of Ethnicity: Beyond ethnic groups and boundaries. Amsterdam: Het Spinhuis.
- Uherek, Z. 2018. Morality, Ethics and Legitimacy: The Romani and their Legitimization of Power Relations. In I. Pardo and G. B. Prato (eds), *Legitimacy: Ethnographic and Theoretical Insights*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. Forthcoming.

Notes on Contributors

Janaki Abraham obtained her Ph.D. in Sociology in 2007 from the University of Delhi, where she is Associate Professor in this subject. Her areas of research and teaching are gender, kinship and caste. Dr Abraham has also worked in the area of visual cultures and is currently working on a project on gender and space in Indian towns. She is author of numerous articles and is finalising her book titled *Gender, Caste and Matrilineal Kinship: Shifting Boundaries in Twentieth Century Kerala*. She serves on the Scientific Board of *Urbanities – Journal of Urban Ethnography* and is book reviews editor for *Contributions to Indian Sociology*.

Robyn Andrews is a Social Anthropologist at Massey University, New Zealand. She completed her PhD in 2005. She is engaged in ethnographic research on Anglo-Indians in India and the diaspora. She focuses on diaspora, migration, Christianity, pilgrimage, and Anglo-Indian experiences in 'small towns' of India, and most recently Anglo-Indian experiences in New Zealand. In addition to her book, *Christmas in Calcutta: Anglo-Indian Stories and Essays* (Sage 2014), she has published academic articles and book chapters, as well as articles in community publications. She is the co-editor of *International Journal of Anglo-Indian Studies* and regularly co-organises Anglo-Indian Studies workshops for scholars working in the area.

Z. Nurdan Atalay received her PhD in Sociology from Artuklu University, Turkey, where she is an Associate Professor of Sociology. In 2017, she was awarded a research grant from the Fund of The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey for a project on the financialization practices of citizenship in Turkey and was a post-doctoral researcher in the School of Anthropology and Conservation at University of Kent, U.K.. Dr Atalay specializes in social methodology, economic sociology and academic writing. Her current research focuses on financialization, social methodology, health policy and visual culture.

Nathalie Boucher is an urban anthropologist based in Montreal. She holds a PhD in Urban Studies from the Institut national de la recherche scientifique in Montreal. Her research, teaching and publications lie in the area of sociability, methodologies, water and public spaces in cities of North American and the Pacific Rim. She manages the Organisme R.Es.P.I.R.E., a non-profit that offers qualitative analysis for the planning of public spaces.

Adriana Hurtado Tarazona is a Ph.D. Candidate in Anthropology at Universidad de los Andes, Bogotá, Colombia. She holds an M.A. in Planning and Management of Regional Development, and an M.A. in Anthropology. Her teaching and research interests span urban, land and housing policies, urban informality, metropolitan management and the impact of large-scale urban projects. Hurtado-Tarazona's current research interest is the link between housing policies and the urban experience of social housing residents, and more generally in the contribution that anthropology can make to our understanding of urban processes in Latin America.

Lucy Koechlin is a Senior Lecturer in the Institute of Social Anthropology and Centre of African Studies at the University of Basel, Switzerland. Her research focuses on governance, corruption, political struggles, democratic politics and urban spaces in Eastern Africa. She

coordinates a research project on corruption, conflict and cities in East and West Africa. Among her recent publications are *Conceptualising Corruption, Conflict and Cities: Towards a Typology of Urban Political Actors* and *The Politics of Governance: Actors and Articulations of Governance in Africa and Beyond* (ed. with Till Förster). Dr Koechlin serves on the Scientific Board of Urbanities —Journal of Urban Ethnography.

Jerome Krase obtained his PhD in Sociology from New York University in 1973. He is Emeritus and Murray Koppelman Professor at Brooklyn College, City University of New York (CUNY). He researches, writes about and photographs urban life and culture around the globe, and has produced a large body of research publications. His latest book is *Seeing Cities Change: Local Culture and Class (2012)*. He is co-editor of *Urbanities— Journal of Urban Ethnography* and serves on the editorial boards of *Cidades, Visual Studies* and the *Journal of Video Ethnography*. Professor Krase is a founding member of the International Urban Symposium and an officer of the non-profit consultant group ProBonoDesign Inc. He is active in the American, European and International Sociological Associations, the Commission on Urban Anthropology and H-Net: Humanities and Social Sciences Online.

Kathryn Krase is Chair, and Associate Professor, in the Department of Social Work at LIU Brooklyn. She teaches policy, research, macro practice and human behaviour. Dr Krase is an expert in the reporting of suspected child maltreatment. She co-authored *Mandated Reporting of Child Abuse and Neglect: A Practical Guide for Social Workers*. Dr Krase previously served as a law guardian and guardian-ad-litem representing children in New York City Family Court for the New York Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children. She also served as the Associate Director of Fordham University's Interdisciplinary Center for Family and Child Advocacy and the Clinical Social Work Supervisor for the Family Defense Clinic at New York University Law School. Dr Krase is an active community advocate. She is on the Board of the Brooklyn Preservation Council, which aims to protect historical landmarks in Brooklyn.

Marcello Mollica is Associate Professor in Cultural Anthropology at the University of Messina, Italy. He holds a PhD in Social Science (Catholic University of Leuven, Belgium) and a European Doctorate Enhancement in Conflict Resolution (University of Deusto, Bilbao, Spain). He was a pre-doc Marie Curie at the University of Ulster, a post-doc Intra-European Fellow at the University of Kent, a Marie Curie Visiting Staff member at the University of Tbilisi, a post-doc Fellow and Lecturer at the University of Fribourg and at the University of Pisa. He has conducted field-work in Northern Ireland, South-eastern Anatolia, Holy Land, Caucasia and Sicily.

Italo Pardo obtained his PhD in Social Anthropology from the University of London in 1988. He is Honorary Reader in this subject at the University of Kent. Dr Pardo pioneered research in the urban West and on legitimacy, morality, corruption and the Western élite in British anthropology. He established and co-edits *Urbanities — Journal of Urban Ethnography*. Dr Pardo has carried out long-term fieldwork in Italy, France and England and has authored a large body of peer-reviewed articles and books. He co-founded and presides over the not-forprofit association, International Urban Symposium-IUS. He is currently doing field research on grassroots entrepreneurialism and good governance and is engaged in leading a multidisciplinary project on legitimacy, morality and ethics. **Giuliana B. Prato** obtained her PhD in Social Anthropology from the University of London in 1995. She is Honorary Senior Research Fellow in this subject at the University of Kent, U.K.. Dr Prato has done fieldwork in Italy, England, France and Albania and has lectured in Naples, Florence, London, Kent, Tirana and Fribourg. She chairs the Commission on Urban Anthropology (IUAES). Dr Prato co-founded the International Urban Symposium-IUS — of which she is Secretary-Treasurer — and serves on the Scientific Board of *Urbanities* — *Journal of Urban Ethnography*. She has widely published her research in peer-reviewed journals and books and has edited several volumes. She is completing an updated monograph on politics and economy in Brindisi (south Italy).

Liora Sarfati is a Lecturer in Sociocultural Anthropology in the Department of East Asian Studies of Tel Aviv University. She has conducted extensive anthropological field research in South Korea. Her specialism spans religion, society, culture and the media in Korea, Israel and Japan. Since summer 2014, Dr Sarfati has conducted research among protesters in downtown Seoul who demanded investigation of the Sewől Ferry's sinking. Her research methods include urban ethnography, media analysis and folklore research. She has published several peer-reviewed essays. Her book *From Ritual to the World Wide Web: Mediated Representations of Korean Shamanism* is now under consideration for publication.

Manos Spyridakis obtained his PhD in Social Anthropology from the University of Sussex, U.K., in 2001. He is Associate Professor of Social Anthropology at the University of the Peloponnese and Vice-Chancellor of the Open Greek University. His research focuses on employment and social policy, the concept of space, qualitative social research, and the anthropology of health. Professor Spyridakis co-edits the Series *Eterotites* and serves on the editorial board of *Ethnology; Utopia; Urbanities*; and *Social Cohesion and Development*. He is Deputy Chair of the Commission of Urban Anthropology and Vice President of the International Urban Symposium-IUS, which he co-founded. Professor Spyridakis has edited collective volumes. His most recent book is, *The Liminal Worker: An Ethnography of Work, Unemployment and Precariousness in Contemporary Greece*.

Zdeněk Uherek holds a Doctorate in Ethnology. He is associate professor at Charles University, Prague and director of the Institute of Ethnology of the AS CR, v.v.i.. Professor Uherek's research and teaching interests are theory of ethnicity, identity, anthropology of Europe, urban anthropology and migration. He has done research in the Czech Republic, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Kazakhstan, Russia, Ukraine, Slovakia, Croatia and Canada. Dr Uherek has published widely in Czech and English. He has recently co-edited *Diversity and Local Contexts: Urban Space, Borders and Migration* (with J. Krase, 2017); *Migration, Diversity and Their Management* (2011) and *Roma Migration in Europe: Case studies* (with Guy W. and Weinerová R, 2004).

The INTERNATIONAL URBAN SYMPOSIUM-IUS

Information on the IUS is available at: <u>www.international urbansymposium.com</u> Contact us at: theboard.ius[at]gmail.com

Abstracting and Indexing

Please visit <u>http://www.anthrojournal-urbanities.com/</u>, "Abstracting and Indexing Information", to view the full list of databases in which this Journal is indexed.

To Advertise in Urbanities

Please visit <u>http://www.anthrojournal-urbanities.com/</u>, "Advertise", for information on our Journal and Web Advertisements.

Submitting to Urbanities

Detailed instructions on how to submit to the Journal can be found on the "Information and Guidelines" page of the journal's web site: <u>http://www.anthrojournal-urbanities.com/</u>.

If you have any queries that are not answered by the "Information and Guidelines" page, please contact the journal editors at: <u>urbanitiesthejournal@gmail.com</u>.

Copyright and Permissions

Urbanities requires the author as the rights holder to sign a Publication Agreement and Copyright Assignment Form for all articles we publish. Under this agreement the author retains copyright in the work but grants *Urbanities* the sole and exclusive right to publish for the full legal term of the copyright.

Authors of articles published in *Urbanities* are permitted to self-archive the submitted, or nonfinal (preprint) version of the article at any time and may self-archive the accepted (peerreviewed) version after an embargo period.

Information on permission to authors to re-publish their work somewhere else and on permission to third parties to use or reproduce works published in *Urbanities* can be found on the "Permissions" page of the journal's web site.